



E LEGAL FRAMEWORK

TRANSFORM is the result of an iterative process of co-creation involving experts and practitioners from southern and eastern Africa. This manual is based on a document prepared by Marius Olivier (International Institute for Social Law and Policy), with contributions from Victoire Umuhire, Maya Stern-Plaza and Luis Frota (ILO).

The editors of the TRANSFORM curriculum series are Luca Pellerano, Luis Frota and Nuno Cunha. Participants to workshops in Kenya, Zambia and Tanzania provided useful comments and inputs. The content of this manual does not reflect the official position of the different organizations supporting the TRANSFORM initiative.

TRANSFORM is a public good. All TRANSFORM materials including this manual are licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International Licence.

You are free to:

Share - copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format

Adapt – remix, transform, and build upon the material

Under the following terms:

Attribution – You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made.

NonCommercial – You may not use the material for commercial purposes, unless expressly authorized by the licensor.

ShareAlike – If you remix, transform, or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same license as the original.

To view a copy of this licence visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/

For further information you can contact the TRANSFORM initiative at transform_socialprotection@ ilo.org or visit http://socialprotection.org/institutions/transform

Suggested Citation: Transform, (2017) "Legal Frameworks for Rights Based Social Protection Floors - Manual for a Leadership and Transformation Curriculum On Building and Managing Social Protection Floors in Africa", available at http://socialprotection. org/institutions/transform

CONTENTS



| GLOSS | SARY | 4 |
|--------|--|----|
| 1 | INTRODUCTION | 5 |
| 2 | WHY A RIGHTS-BASED FRAMEWORK FOR SOCIAL PROTECTION IS IMPORTANT | 11 |
| 2.1 | Objectives | 11 |
| 2.2 | Rationale | 11 |
| 2.3 | International and regional standards | 13 |
| 2.3.1 | International standards: general | 13 |
| 2.3.2 | International standards: ILO 2012 Recommendation 202 on National Floors of Social Protection | 15 |
| 2.3.3 | Regional standards | 17 |
| 2.3.4 | Application of international and regional standards in national legal systems | 19 |
| 2.4 | Constitutional protection and the role of courts | 19 |
| 2.5 | Fiscal constraints and a rights-based approach | 21 |
| 2.6 | Take-away lessons | 26 |
| 3 | CONSTRUCTING A NATIONAL LEGAL BASIS FOR SOCIAL ASSISTANCE | 27 |
| 3.1 | Objectives | 27 |
| 3.2 | Developing the legal framework | 27 |
| 3.3 | Establishing the main parameters by law | 28 |
| 3.3.1 | Beneficiary identification | 28 |
| 3.3.2 | Social assistance for non-citizens? | 30 |
| 3.3.3 | Qualifying conditions: | 31 |
| 3.4 | Funding and institutional arrangements | 34 |
| 3.4.1 | Funding arrangements | 34 |
| 3.4.2 | Institutional Arrangements | 34 |
| 3.5 | Domestic laws, public consultations and social mobilization | 35 |
| 3.6 | Research and analysis for regulatory reform | 38 |
| 3.7 | Take-away lessons | 39 |
| 4 | PROTECTION OF INDIVIDUAL ENTITLEMENTS AND AGAINST MISUSE | |
| | OF PERSONAL INFORMATION IN SOCIAL ASSISTANCE | 40 |
| 4.1 | Objectives | 40 |
| 4.2 | Right to complain and appeal | 40 |
| 4.3 | Principle of due process | 42 |
| 4.4 | Privacy and the protection of the confidentiality of private information | 44 |
| 4.5 | Principles for protecting clients' rights in accessing social protection services | 45 |
| 4.6 | Take-away lessons | 47 |
| 5 | PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY IN NATIONAL SOCIAL ASSISTANCE LAWS | 48 |
| 5.1 | Objectives | 48 |
| 5.2 | Accountability institutions | 48 |
| 5.3 | Compliance and enforcement | 49 |
| 5.4 | Support from legal clinics and other social activists | 50 |
| 5.5 | Take-away lessons | 51 |
| BIBLIO | OGRAPHY | 52 |



GLOSSARY

Categorical benefit schemes, cover all residents belonging to a certain category, are also often referred to as "universal" categorical benefits schemes.

Conditional cash transfer: a special form of social assistance scheme which provides cash to families subject to the condition that they fulfil specific behavioural requirements. These conditions oblige individuals to satisfy some action associated with human development goals. This may include that parents must ensure their children attend school regularly or that they utilize basic preventative nutrition and health care services, such as vaccination programmes or maternal and post-natal check-ups.

Human rights-based approach to social security identifies rights holders and their entitlements and corresponding duty bearers and their obligations, and works towards strengthening the capacities of rights holders to make their claims and of duty bearers to meet their obligations.

Income security for children: social protection measures, including social insurance, social assistance, cash and in-kind transfers, among others, that ensure access to nutrition, education, care, and other necessary goods and services for children for their wellbeing and development.

Income security for elderly: social protection measures, including social insurance, social assistance, cash and in-kind transfers, among others, that enable elderly people to maintain a basic quality of life after the retirement age.

Income security for working age: social protection measures, including social insurance, social assistance, cash and in-kind transfers, among others, that enable all people in active age groups and their dependents to maintain a basic quality of life if they are unable to earn sufficient income, especially due to sickness, injury, unemployment, maternity, disability, death of the breadwinner, and to increase their employability.

Legal framework. Encompasses all national laws and other decrees or secondary legislations and regulations.

National social protection laws. They refer here to either framework laws encompassing social insurance, social assistance and social services, or specific national social assistance laws. In line with international standards and principles, certain main parameters of social security schemes should be in the law and not in a decree or other secondary legislation.

Progressive realization In terms of the right to social security, means that States parties have an obligation to take appropriate measures to the maximum of their available resources towards the full realization of the right to social security.

Social assistance: the provision of social security benefits financed from the general revenue of the government rathe than by individual contributions, with benefits adjusted to the person's needs. Many social assistance programmes are targeted at those individuals and households living under a defined threshold of income or assets. Social assistance programmes can focus on a specific risk (for example, disability or on particularly vulnerable groups (for example, poor elderly people).

Social insurance: the provision of social security benefits financed by contributions, which are normally shared between employers and workers with, perhaps, government participation in the form of a supplementary contribution or other subsidy from the general revenue.

Social security/social protection: the protection which society provides for its members, through a series of public measures, against the economic and social distress that otherwise will be caused by the stoppage or substantial reduction of earnings resulting from sickness, maternity, employment injury, unemployment, invalidity, old age, and death, and also including the provision of medical care and provision of subsidies for families and children.

Universal benefit schemes are **non-contributory** transfer schemes, which **cover all residents**, and provide benefits for all, whether working or not and irrespective of income. Often the only condition attached to the receipt of the benefit is that the person must be a long-term resident or a citizen of the country.



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ADM | Administration and Delivery Systems |
|---------|--|
| AIDS | Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome |
| AU | Africa Union |
| C. 102 | ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention, 1952 (No. 102) |
| CBM | Citizen-Based Monitoring |
| CBOs | Community-Based Organizations |
| CESCR | Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights |
| CONEVAL | National Council for the Evaluation of Social Development Policies |
| COO | Coordination |
| CSOs | Civil Society Organisations |
| DSD | Department of Social Development |
| FIN | Financing and Financial Management |
| GOV | Governance, Institutions and Organizational Structure |
| HIV | Human Immunodeficiency Virus |
| ILO | International Labour Organisation |
| ITSAA | Tribunal for Social Assistance Appeals |
| M&E | Monitoring and Evaluation |
| MIS | Management Information System |
| NGO | Non-Governmental Organization |
| R. 202 | ILO Social Protection Floors Recommendation, 2012 (No. 202) |
| S&I | Selection and Identification |
| SADC | Southern Africa Development Community |
| SASSA | South African Social Security Agency |
| UN | United Nations |
| UNICEF | United Nations Children's Fund |
| WFP | World Food Programme |
| | |



INTRODUCTIION

This module deals with the core question of how a country can set up a legal framework that provides for non-contributory social protection, or social benefits,¹ paid from general government revenue.

ILO Convention No.102 (1952) sets a framework of basic social security principles on which any social security system should be based to encourage the development of broad social security schemes. The ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention, 1952 (No. 102) provides detailed guidance for the definition of the content of the right to social security. Set against the developments of social protection in the immediate after world war two period in Europe, which included the acknowledgement of social security as a right, it included broad tax funded social security provision (ex. National Health Service funded by taxes, and State funded pensions²). Therefore C102 provides guidance to both contributory and non-contributory schemes.

Box 1: European Code on Social security: from social insurance to social assistance entitlement

"When the Code was written in the early 1950s, social assistance covered the risk of poverty, was typically financed from general taxation and was considered a discretionary benefit, in other words the state was totally free to decide if and how much benefit should be paid. Social insurance at this time was considered as a subjective right because, inter alia, employees had contributed to its costs, this meant that it had to be paid to any claimant who satisfied the list of set conditions. The Code was designed to cover only social insurance and not social assistance. However, since the 1950s attitudes towards social assistance have changed dramatically, especially since the entry into force of the European Social Charter that now makes entitlement to a benefit ...provided that the claimant's need is linked to one of the contingencies...for example the claimant is facing poverty because of unemployment or old age. The Code does not cover schemes that are only concerned with whether a person is poor and thus unconcerned whether the poverty stems from one of the recognized social contingencies..."

Source: Nickless, J. European Code of Social Security, Short Guide, May 2002, p.7

¹Throughout this document we will use the words social security and social protection interchangeably. See the Glossary. ²Broad tax funded social protection is also referred to as "Beveridgean' social security as opposed to contributory "Bismarckian" social security.



In practice, C. 102 fell short in terms of its requirements for universal protection, requiring for example only 20% of residents to be covered. In 2012, the ILO adopted Recommendation 202 on National Floors of Social Protection. The basic social security guarantees constituting national social protection floors, according to the **ILO Social Protection Floors Recommendation**, **2012 (No. 202)** can be considered as reflecting the minimum core content of the right to social security envisaged in other international and regional standards today (see below). The Recommendation calls social protection floors nationally defined sets of basic social security guarantees which secure protection aimed at preventing or alleviating poverty, vulnerability and social exclusion (par 2). In this framework, "schemes providing such benefits may include universal benefit schemes, social insurance schemes, social assistance schemes, negative income tax schemes, public employment schemes and employment support schemes". Universal benefit schemes, social assistance schemes or a combination of social insurance with subsidies paid from government general revenue play a key role (see definitions in glossary). The need to provide for strong legal frameworks that clearly lay out entitlements, rights and obligations is provided for in R.202 (paras 3b and 7).

The right to social security is explicitly articulated in Article 9 of the **International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR)**. The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), which monitors the implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), has progressively developed the content of the right to social security. The 2008 General Comment 19 asserts its interdependent and indivisible nature, outlines the need for sustainable social security systems enshrined in law, as well as obliging states to provide adequate and accessible services in a non-discriminatory manner. The Optional Protocol to the ICESCR, which entered into force in 2013, establishes the competence of the CESCR to receive complaints in case of violations of the rights enshrined in the Covenant, including violations of the right to social security, right to adequate standards of health and labour rights³

At the regional level, Article 1 (b) of the **Code on Social Security of the SADC** (2007) describes social assistance as a "form of social security that provides assistance in cash or in kind to persons who lack the means to support themselves and their dependents. The objective of social assistance is to alleviate poverty through, amongst other things, the provision of minimum income support. Normally, the beneficiaries are those who are not covered by any other form of social security". Art. 1 (b) further indicates that "social assistance can be means-tested and is funded from government revenues". Art. 1 (a) of the Code on Social Security of the SADC (2007) considers, separately, social allowances as "universal payments made to persons in designated categories who are exposed to exceptional need (such as children, older persons, persons with disabilities), designed to assist them in the realization of their full potential... Social allowances are financed from government revenue and are not means tested. They are paid to all persons falling within the designated categories, regardless of their socio-economic position." The focus of social assistance and social allowances is on the extension of protection to the poor and vulnerable or designated categories through allocations made from the state budget.

"A society had to attempt to ensure that the basic necessities of life were accessible to all if it was to be a society in which human dignity, freedom and equality were foundational. The right of access to social security, including social assistance, for those unable to support themselves and their dependants was entrenched because society in the RSA valued human beings and wanted to ensure that people were afforded their basic needs."^{3b}

Some countries in Southern Africa have established a legal framework for the provision of social assistance (taken generally to encompass social allowances). However, it has also been found that in many SADC countries the general picture is that social assistance (as well as related services and facilities) lacks a formal statutory basis. Not only does this add to the fragmentation of social protection, at least from a legal perspective, but it also has the following effects:³

- 'There is no statutory compulsion on the part of governments to take action in this area, and an inability on the part of courts to monitor government action in the absence of clear legal objectives, standards and provisions;
- Individuals and communities in need of protection are exposed to arbitrary and discretionary selection and decision-making; change of rules, particularly in times of crises when vulnerable are at greater risk and need is most felt for assistance.
- There is less incentive and pressure, to effectively implement assistance to vulnerable groups in need of protection, as prioritized nationally by broad national social dialogue.'

³ M Olivier (2003) "Developing an integrated and inclusive framework for social protection in SADC: a rights-based perspective" in M Olivier and E Kalula (eds) Developing an integrated and inclusive framework for social protection in SADC (CICLASS, Institute for Development and Labour Law, UCT & FES, 2003) 21-70 at 34. ³⁶Quotation from the South African Constitutional Court case of Khosa and Others v The Minister of Social Development and Others; Mahlaule and Others v The Minister of Social Development and Others 2004 (6) BCLR 569 (CC) par 52



And yet, the exponential growth and proven importance of social assistance programmes require a clear and solid basis cemented in law; to allow harmonized, consistent and trusted delivery of services at scale. Especially during the last two decades, social assistance schemes, including universal, conditional and unconditional non-contributory programmes have been introduced or expanded on a comprehensive scale in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Two examples embedded in Law, may be given:

- In Brazil, the 1988 Constitution of Brazil recognises the right to social protection, and Law 10.836/2004 stipulates the right to a basic income in order to obtain food, education and health care. The Bolsa Familia scheme was launched in 2003 with the objectives of reducing poverty and inequality by providing a minimum level of income for extremely poor families. As one of the largest non-contributory social transfer schemes in the world, it covered 50 million people in 2015.⁴
- In South Africa, the Social Assistance Act (Act 13 2004), charges the national government with responsibility for social security grants. The social assistance grant system, targeting certain categories of poor people in need of income support, has grown rapidly since the middle of the 1990s, currently covering about 17 million beneficiaries (i.e. about one-third of the South African population).

The impact of many of these schemes has been extensive. The income protection they have provided, especially when implemented in coordination with social services, has significantly contributed to reducing poverty, having more secure pregnancies, decreasing malnutrition, increasing school attendance, improving health outcomes, including promotion of adherence to ARV treatment for HIV, reducing child labour and enabling some beneficiaries to engage in entrepreneurial activities⁵ Moreover, the indirect or distributional role of these schemes has been considerable, as the income received through non-contributory arrangements has been instrumental in supporting many family members. But the impact on poverty, inequality and broader social outcomes, could be greater if schemes provided more predictable and significant level of benefits in greater scale, according to national circumstances, as recommended by R. 202.

Whilst ILO R. 202 (2012) establishes that basic social security guarantees should be established by law and that National laws and regulations should specify the range, qualifying conditions and levels of the benefits giving effect to these guarantees, it recognizes that there is no single way of constructing the elements of the legal framework providing for social assistance: each country should determine the type, nature, level and progressive universal reach by categories of need and social risk, according to national circumstances. In particular, the form that a national regulation can take, its legal status and content, and its implementing modalities, will vary from country to country. However, much can be learned from international and regional standards and from the experience of other countries – namely in what concerns:

- The role that constitutional guarantees play in ensuring a balanced and evolving system of social security rights
- The way in which courts and tribunals are sensitive to human rights considerations, pronounce themselves on social assistance matters, and keep governments and social assistance institutions accountable and responsive to collective and individual concerns, particularly those of the most vulnerable
- Effective administration, streamlined service delivery and provision of quality services to clients informed by transparent implementation of clear principles embedded in framework legislation, including those of effective availability and accessibility of services
- The involvement of social partners and civil society institutions, that help social assistance institutions be accepted, fit and adapt continuously to national circumstances and therefore ensure their continuing public legitimacy
- Adequate internal monitoring, external checks by general audit and other legal enforcement institutions, that increase the integrity, credibility and trustworthiness of the institutions
- The resolution of disputes and complaints of clients regarding the social assistance system that enhances the equity and consistency of social assistance provision

⁴ ILO Social security and the rule of law (2011) 123 (par 297); ILO World Social Protection Report 2014-2015 (2014) 26; http://www.social-protection.org/gimi/gess/

⁵ LO (2011) Social security and the rule of law (2017) 120 (2017 basic services net of taxes." (p 3)



A strong legal framework is a vehicle to uphold human rights principles in governance, administration and social protection service delivery.

Box 2: Definition - human rights-based approach to social security

A human rights-based approach to social security identifies rights holders and their entitlements and corresponding duty bearers and their obligations, and works towards strengthening the capacities of rights holders to make their claims and of duty bearers to meet their obligations.

Source: http://socialprotection-humanrights.org

| Table 1: The | principles of | ^r a rights-based | approach to socia | al protection an | nd what they entail |
|--------------|---------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|------------------|---------------------|
| | | J | | | |

| PRINCIPLES | WHAT THEY ENTAIL |
|--------------------------------|--|
| Universality of Protection | According to R.202, and ILO Declaration of Philadelphia, social security guarantees should ensure at a minimum that, over the life cycle, all in need of protection have access to essential health care and to basic income security which together secure effective access to goods and services defined as |
| Dignity and Autonomy | Social security responds to the special needs of disadvantaged persons in a manner that promotes dignity (notably in access to benefits and service delivery) and minimizes stigmatization of those receiving social security benefits by, for example, embedding anti-stigma measures |
| Equality and Nondiscrimination | Under international human rights law, States are expected to eliminate direct and indirect discrimination in law and practice; on the grounds of race, color, sex, age, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, culture, minority status, property, birth, physical or mental disability, health status (including HIV/AIDS), sexual orientation, and civil, political, social or other status; when it has the intention or effect of nullifying or impairing the equal enjoyment or exercise of the right to social security. |
| Inclusion of Vulnerable Groups | States give special attention to those persons who belong to the most disadvantaged and marginalized groups in society. This entails guaranteeing non-discriminatory treatment as well as adopting proactive measures to enable those suffering from structural discrimination (for example, ethnic minorities or indigenous peoples) to enjoy their rights. |
| Gender Perspective | Substantive equality requires states to transform unequal power relations between women and men and ensure that all human beings can develop and make choices without the limitations set by stereotypes, rigid gender roles and prejudices. |

Source: http://socialprotection-humanrights.org



One important aspect of a rights based approach is the respect for the inherent dignity of all. **Respecting the dignity of those who receive State social security benefits implies that all actors within the social security system must avoid stigmatization and prejudice.** "Obstacles, insecurity and structural factors frequently render it impossible for certain disadvantaged groups to claim their rights and to fulfil their potential independently. State must explicitly design policies that are 'shame proof' and respond to special needs in a manner that promotes dignity. This also implies that minimum essential levels of social protection be set in a manner that allows a life in health and dignity"⁷ (R. 202, para 8).

These issues are discussed in the next sections. Broad recommendations are provided to assist with the development of a legal framework, in particular national social protection laws.

⁷ http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/framework/principles/dignity-and-autonomy/



WHY A RIGHTS-BASED FRAMEWORK FOR SOCIAL PROTECTION IS IMPORTANT

2.1 OBJECTIVES

Upon completion of this section of the module, you should be able to:

- Describe the purposes fulfilled by a legal social protection framework including social assistance
- Understand why international and regional standards play a prominent role in determining the scope and content of social assistance
- Reflect on the main international instruments, including ILO's R. 202 and C. 102 concerning social security minimum standards, that set universal standards and benchmarks for the provision of socialassistance
- Explain the framework for the extension of social assistance, provided for by Africa Union (AU) and Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) instruments
- Understand how international and regional standards on social assistance give effect to national legal systems
- Discuss the role of national constitutions with regards to social protection and in particular social assistance and the role of courts in the protection of the right to social protection
- Describe the measures that countries have adopted to provide for social assistance despite fiscal constraints with particular emphasis on developing countries

2.2 RATIONALE

A legal framework for social assistance fulfils important purposes which give the State a clear and legal **general mandate** to provide social assistance benefits:

- Meeting international obligations;
- Implementation of constitutional right;
- Providing normative content to that right: availability of services, clearly defined, effective and adequate protection from social risks and contingencies;



- BUILDING SOCIAL PROJECTION FLOORS IN AFRICA
- Defining the various roles and responsibilities of all those involved in implementing the programmes at different levels of government, i.e. rights and obligations of all concerned parties;
- Guaranteeing and improving the correct functioning of the scheme. In the absence of existence and systematic application of administrative rules, institutions may provide social benefits unduly and inconsistently; this includes rules such as the requirement for regular life proofs, and the uniform application of rules across sub national levels.

A social protection law encompassing social assistance should also give expression to the principle that **social protection is an individual human right:**

- Safeguarding human rights principles of dignity, inclusion, accessibility of benefits;
- Guaranteeing equal treatment, including gender equality and non-discrimination;
- Protecting privacy and increasing trust and confidence in the State.

Furthermore, specifically, such a legal framework gives **poor and vulnerable people clarity** regarding:

- the specific benefits that may be available to them;
- individual rights and obligation;
- the criteria they have to meet in order to qualify for such benefits;
- mechanisms to ensure transparency and access to information, non-costly procedures that need to be followed in order to access these benefits;
- complaints and appeal mechanisms available to them, should they be dissatisfied by a decision of the relevant institution in charge of paying social assistance benefits;
- participation channels for beneficiaries.

Such a legal framework should also deal with other important **aspects of administration**, such as:

- the simple and transparent identification and selection of beneficiaries;
- education and awareness of administrators, staff and public in general;
- strengthening of institutional capacities, i.e. the establishment, functions and powers of the institution responsible for paying benefits;
- safeguarding the predictability and adequacy of benefits;
- promoting human rights approaches in management, i.e.
 - in the use of technology including biometric data
 - accessibility of disadvantaged groups
 - languages spoken
 - non-discrimination by front line staff
 - "non-shame proof" management practices
 - ensuring privacy of data in data exchange and communication
 - 12



- ensuring transparency and accountability in financial matters:
 - open procurement rules and
 - integrity of benefit payment systems
 - safeguards against corruption
 - appropriate fiduciary risk management for the prevention and avoidance of fraud, errors, maladministration
- establishing a **stable and regular funding base:** clarifying funding sources and public financial management processes for funding that guarantee the sustainability of the scheme

It is therefore advisable, as a rule, to adopt legislation that will protect the rights and entitlements of social assistance beneficiaries.

It has been debated if such national legal framework should apply from the start of establishing social protection schemes. One view contends that pilot schemes aim precisely at defining the design parameters before anchoring the national social protection scheme into Law. But the result is often that pilots tend to last and multiply in different shapes and forms without solid legal foundations and accountability frameworks. Another view argues that key defining nature and principles underpinning social assistance provision ought to be determined from onset as part of law, and implementation can be progressively done within the boundaries of those parameters. The latter needs to be defined ex ante on the basis of national evidence based dialogue including sound costing.

In reality some designs of social assistance benefits lend themselves better to human rights approaches, particularly ensuring the justiciability of rights, than others (see MODULE S&I), so a national dialogue and policy decisions on principles and approaches need to inform what pilots are suitable and adapted in the first place (decisions cannot be based only on the technical assessment and evaluation of "what works best"). Therefore, a stance that is consistent with a human rights approach is that a legal foundation is necessary as soon as possible, laying out a full vision for what the system of complete rights must look like, even if schemes are implemented gradually to allow learning phase. Laws and regulations can be subject to improvements and further specifications as countries learn and progress.

Having said that, it can be argued that laws and institutions can fail if they do not generate sufficient credible commitment from national stakeholders; therefore evidence based and inclusive national social dialogue is critical to ensure ownership, more equitable outcomes and effective implementation of the laws.⁸

2.3 INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL STANDARDS

2.3.1 International standards: general

International and regional standards play a prominent role in determining the scope and content of social assistance. Countries that are party to these instruments have an obligation to adhere to them. In addition, standards can serve as benchmarks, which countries can use to establish, develop and improve their social assistance systems. These standards are also an expression of the fact that access to social protection, including social assistance is a human right. The 1944 Philadelphia Declaration (i.e. the Declaration concerning the aims and purposes of the ILO, included as an annex to the Constitution of the ILO) calls for the 'extension of social security measures to provide a basic income to all in need of such protection and comprehensive medical care.'⁹

⁸ World Bank Report 2017 Governance and Laws and ISPA Tool on Social Dialogue based Social Protection Assessment.
⁹ See section III(f) of the Declaration.



The challenges in this regard include the fact that:

- 73% per cent of the global population currently lack adequate access to formal social security among these, 20 per cent live in extreme poverty; and
- informal work is widespread in developing countries and there is an inadequate range and quality of social protection benefits available in many countries, amidst persistent levels of poverty.¹⁰

In 1944 the ILO also adopted two non-binding instruments aimed at fostering the national provision of minimum support in the areas of income security and medical care. These were Income Security Recommendation 67 and Medical Care Recommendation 69. It can be noted that both of these Recommendations paved the way for the adoption of C.102, ILO's landmark Social Security Convention.

The UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights of 1948 is globally regarded as a leading instrument in the human rights area. Articles 22 and 25 of the Declaration emphasize the right of every person to social security and to an adequate standard of living.

Box 3: Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 1948

Article 22

Everyone, as a member of society, has the right to social security and is entitled to realization, through national effort and international co-operation and in accordance with the organization and resources of each State, of the economic, social and cultural rights indispensable for his dignity and the free development of his personality.

Article 25

(1) Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and well-being of himself and of his family, including food, clothing, housing and medical care and necessary social services, and the right to security in the event of unemployment, sickness, disability, widowhood, old age or other lack of livelihood in circumstances beyond his control.

(2) Motherhood and childhood are entitled to special care and assistance. All children, whether born in or out of wedlock, shall enjoy the same social protection.

Source: Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 1948

Other UN instruments confirm in broad terms the approach indicated above. The **UN International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR)** of 1966 is the most widely endorsed international instrument in thisregard and most importantly is legally binding to countries who have ratified it. Unlike the Declaration, ratifying statesparty to the Covenant have to ensure they are complying with their obligations stemming therefrom.

Box 4: Online Resources

The web site http://uhri.ohchr.org/en provides a single window to access existing recommendations by international body treaties by country.

The hashtag #ESCRLitigation provides information on Twitter about ongoing litigation resulting from infringements to the International Covenant on Economic and Social Rights

¹⁰ See ILO Social Security and the Rule of Law (General Survey concerning social security instruments in light of the 2008 Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization) par 300; M Cichon and K Hagemejer "Social Security for All: Investing in Global and Economic Development. A Consultation" Issues in Social Protection Series, Discussion Paper 16, ILO Social Security Department 2006.



Almost all African countries¹¹, including most SADC countries, have ratified the Covenant. By adopting this instrument, states recognize:

- a. The right of everyone to social security (including social insurance) (article 9);
- b. That the widest possible protection and assistance should be accorded to the family, including special protection in relation to pregnant women, and special measures of protection and assistance on behalf of all children and young persons without any discrimination (article 10);
- c. The right of everyone to an adequate standard of living for himself and his family, including adequate food, clothing and housing, and to the continuous improvement of living conditions (article 11); and d. the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health (article 12).
- d. The right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health (article 12). In interpreting article 9 on the right to social security, the UN Economic and Social Council, in its General Comment No. 19 on the right to social security, indicates that this article requires that measures used to provide social security benefits be guaranteed to all peoples, including those who are unemployed. In almost all States party to the ICESCR, non-contributory schemes will be required since it is unlikely that every person can be adequately covered through an insurance-based system (par 4(b) of the Comment).

The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR) recognizes that some aspects of respecting, protecting and fulfilling economic, social and cultural rights may require financial resources that are not always immediately available to all States, and allows for "progressive realization", meaning the rights may be realized gradually (see Section 2.5).

In this way, the human rights framework seeks to distinguish between an inability and an unwillingness to meet the agreed responsibilities.

2.3.2 International standards: ILO Social Protection Floors Recommendation, 2012 (No. 202)

In 2012 the ILO adopted R. 202 on National Floors of Social Protection which provides guidance on establishing comprehensive social protection systems and completes the existing international social security normative framework. The Recommendation defines social protection floors as nationally defined sets of basic social security guarantees which secure protection aimed at preventing or alleviating poverty, vulnerability and social exclusion (par 2).

ILO Member States are called upon to maintain or establish, in accordance with national circumstances, and as quickly as possible, social protection floors comprising basic social protection guarantees. The guarantees should ensure, at a minimum, that, over the life-cycle, all in need have access to essential healthcare and to basic income security – which, together, secure effective access to goods and services defined as necessary at the national level (par 4).

The elements of a social protection floor should be provided to at least all residents and children (par 6).

¹¹ Except Botswana, Mozambique and South Sudan as of January 1st 2017. See http://indicators.ohchr.org/



Box 5: National Social Protection Floors

National social protection floors should comprise at least the following basic social security guarantees, which could among others be achieved via social assistance schemes (paras 5 and 9(3)):

- a. access to a nationally defined set of goods and services, constituting essential health care, including maternity care, that meets the criteria of availability, accessibility, acceptability and quality;
- b. basic income security for children, at least at a nationally defined minimum level, providing access to nutrition, education, care and any other necessary goods and services;
- c. basic income security, at least at a nationally defined minimum level, for persons in active age who are unable to earn sufficient income, in particular in cases of sickness, unemployment, maternity and disability; and
- d. basic income security, at least at a nationally defined minimum level, for older persons.

Source: ILO Social Protection Floors Recommendation, 2012 (No. 202)

Importantly, **R. 202 states that basic social security guarantees need to be established by law (par 7).** It stipulates that:

- National laws and regulations should specify the range, qualifying conditions, and levels of the benefits giving effect to these guarantees.
- Impartial, transparent, effective, simple, rapid, accessible and inexpensive complaints and appeal procedures should also be specified.
- Access to complaints and appeal procedures should be free of charge to the applicant.
- Lastly, systems should be in place to enhance compliance with national legal frameworks (par 7)

ILO R. 202 recognizes the responsibility of States in developing national legal frameworks but speaks to the following principles:

- a. universality of protection, based on social solidarity;
- b. entitlement to benefits prescribed by national law;
- c. adequacy and predictability of benefits;
- d. non-discrimination, gender equality and responsiveness to special needs;
- e. social inclusion, including of persons in the informal economy;
- f. respect for the rights and dignity of people covered by the social security guarantees;
- g. progressive realization, including by setting targets and time frames;
- h. solidarity in financing while seeking to achieve an optimal balance between the responsibilities and interests among those who finance and benefit from social security schemes;
- i. consideration of diversity of methods and approaches, including of financing mechanisms and delivery systems;

WHY A RIGHTS-BASED FRAMEWORK FOR SOCIAL PROTECTION IS IMPORTANT



- j. transparent, accountable and sound financial management and administration;
- k. financial, fiscal and economic sustainability with due regard to social justice and equity;
- I. coherence with social, economic and employment policies;
- m. coherence across institutions responsible for delivery of social protection;
- n. high-quality public services that enhance the delivery of social security systems;
- o. efficiency and accessibility of complaint and appeal procedures;
- p. regular monitoring of implementation, and periodic evaluation;
- q. full respect for collective bargaining and freedom of association for all workers; and
- r. tripartite participation with representative organizations of employers and workers, as well as consultation with other relevant and representative organizations of persons concerned.

2.3.3 Regional Standards

The **African Union** puts human rights on the African agenda. This is evident in the explicit recognition of human rights, the promotion of social economic and cultural development and gender equality in the following instruments:

- The AU Commission notably social affairs commission
- Specialized technical committees on labour and social affairs
- African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child
- African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights
- African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (ACRWC)
- Protocol to the Charter on Human and People's Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa (Women's rights protocol)
- African Union Convention for the Protection and Assistance of Internally Displaced Persons in Africa (Kampala Convention)
- African Youth Charter
- Ouagadougou Declaration and Plan of Action (2004)
- Livingstone and Yaounde Calls for Action (2006)
- The Social Protection Plan for the Informal Economy and Rural Workers SPIREWORK (2011-2015)

Box 6: Online Resource

You can access to up to date legal cases on African Union and SADC treaties on human rights, including tosocial security: http://caselaw.ihrda.org/



The Social Policy Framework for Africa of 2008¹² sets out a vision for African societies based on social solidarity, equity and freedom from discrimination and poverty. It argues for the extension of social protection through measures such as publicly financed, non-contributory cash transfers (par 31).

The Framework notes that there is an emerging consensus that a minimum package of essential social protection should cover: essential health care, and benefits for children, informal workers, the unemployed, older persons and persons with disabilities. This minimum package provides the platform for broadening and extending social protection as more fiscal space is created (par 32). The Framework further remarks that a minimum package can have a significant impact on poverty alleviation, the improvement of living standards, the reduction of inequalities and the promotion of economic growth (par 33).

Work is underway to the development of an AU Protocol on the Rights of Citizens to Social Protection and Social security, and a Social Agenda 2063.

In the context of the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC), the Protocol on Employment and Labour (2014) enjoins each State Party to aim at developing an integrated and comprehensive social protection system which ensures meaningful coverage of all through social protection programmes, including social assistance (art 11(3)(a)).

Box 7: Progressively attaining goals of protection in accordance with international and regional standards in SADC countries

According to article 11(2) of the SADC Protocol on Employment and Labour, every Member State shall establish, maintain and progressively raise its system of social security to a level consistent with international and regional instruments, by ratifying and implementing ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention 1952 (No. 102) and implementing the ILO National Floors of Social Protection R.202, the Charter of Fundamental Social Rights in SADC and the SADC Code on Social Security.

Source: SADC Protocol on Employment and Labour

The Protocol specifically provides that:

- Persons who have been unable to either enter or re-enter the labour market and have no means of subsistence shall be entitled to receive sufficient resources and social assistance (art 11(1)(b));¹³
- Every worker who has reached retirement age but is not entitled to a pension or does not have other means of subsistence shall be eligible to receive adequate social assistance to cater specifically for basic needs including medical care (art 14(b));14
- Ideally, social assistance support should also be available to workers who have become unemployed and who are not covered by compulsory social insurance (art 15(i)); and
- Appropriate and adequate social security protection should be extended to informal and rural workers, among others, through universal schemes and social assistance measures (art 20(1)(e)).

Finally, the 2007 Code on Social Security in the SADC provides that everyone in SADC who has insufficient means of subsistence to support themselves and their dependents should be entitled to social assistance, in accordance with the level of socio-economic development of the particular Member State (par 5.1). The right to social assistance is specifically extended to those in need who are old, unemployed/dependent on survival activities, or disabled (paras 10.1, 11.1 and 14.1).

 ¹² AU (2008) Social Policy Framework for Africa (CAMSD/EXP/4(I)
 ¹³ This provision echoes par 10(2) of the Charter of Fundamental Social Rights in the SADC (the "Social Charter") of 2003.
 ¹⁴ For a similar provision, see par 8(b) of the Social Charter.



2.3.4 Application of International and Regional Standards in National Legal Systems

National legal systems use different methods to give effect to international and regional standards. Sometimes, constitutions provide for relatively uncomplicated mechanisms for the application of international law¹⁵. For example, the Constitution of Namibia foresees the direct application of international and regional standards by stipulating that, unless otherwise provided for, 'the general rules of public international law and international agreements binding upon Namibia under this Constitution shall form part of the law of Namibia'.¹⁶ However, in other cases, such as **South Africa**¹⁷ and **Zimbabwe**, ¹⁸ statutory incorporation of the relevant international standards is, as a rule, required before the (ratified) international agreement becomes law in the country concerned. In cases where statutory incorporation is required, it is indeed necessary to adopt legislation that will give effect to these standards.

2.4 CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AND THE ROLE OF COURTS

National constitutions play an increasingly important role in providing for social security and social assistance¹⁹. This is significant as national constitutions have been used to hold governments accountable to granting human rights protection in the area of social protection. Of course the potential impact of a constitution containing provisions for social protection differs from system to system. It will depend on the status accorded to these rights by the constitution and on the powers and ability of the courts to enforce these rights.²⁰ Constitutions provide for the right to social security and to social assistance in different ways.

Although several national constitutions do not refer specifically to "social security", the great majority contain provisions that recognize the need for one or more forms of social protection. The means of social protection most commonly referred to in national constitutions throughout the world include social security, social insurance, social assistance and support, and social services. These means are often provided for in the context of protection against specific social risks or life situations, such as motherhood, fatherhood, childhood or old age, and with respect to specific categories of the population, such as children and young persons, families with children, the elderly and persons with disabilities. Health insurance and the provision of health care are often dealt with separately from protection against other social risks. Other means of protection may include the concepts of income security, minimum income, social pensions and the minimum subsistence level²¹

Some countries' constitutional provisions furnish non-binding authority by defining the guiding principles of state action, without creating obligations of the State and even less individual rights.

- The Constitution of Japan only refers to social security in article 25(2), which provides that: "In all spheres of life, the State shall use its endeavours for the promotion and extension of social welfare and security, and of public health." Similarly, based on the constitutional requirement to provide public assistance,²²
- In 1995, the Government of India included the National Social Assistance Programme in the Central Budget. Guidelines aimed at facilitating the implementation of this programme were issued by both the central and state governments but they did not give effect to specific national legislation.
- Non-binding references to social protection or welfare rights are contained in the constitutions of Namibia and Swaziland.

 ¹⁷ Sect 231(4) of the South African Constitution (19%6).
 ¹⁸ Sect 231(4) of the South African Constitution (19%6).
 ¹⁸ Sect 111B(1)(b) of the Zimbabwean Constitution (1980).
 ¹⁹ General Survey concerning social security instruments in light of the 2008 Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization, 2011 available online http://www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_152602.pdf
 ²⁰ ILO Social security and the rule of law paras 234-235; M Olivier "Social security: Framework" in LAWSA (The Law of South Africa) - Labour Law and Social Security Law Vol 13, Part 2 (LexisNexis, Durban, 2012) par 150.
 ²¹ General Survey concerning social security instruments in light of the 2008 Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization, 2011 available online http://www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_152602.pdf
 ²² Article 41 of the Constitution of India directs the State to provide public assistance to its citizens in case of unemployment, old age, sickness and disablement and in other section of unemprotein approximation and advancement. other cases of undeserved want within the limit of its economic capacity and development.

¹⁵ A note on monist and dualism models in determining the application of international treaties in national laws. The monist view generally asserts that international law prevails over domestic law thus making international law directly incorporated into domestic law once it becomes binding. According to the dualist approach, in order for a part of international law to become binding domestically, it must be transposed into domestic law, or otherwise it will have no legal effect. http://con.oxfordjournals.org/content/9/1/274.full.pdf+html ¹⁶ Art 144 of the Constitution of Namibia. ¹⁷ Sect 231(4) of the South African Constitution (1996). ¹⁸ Gent 119(14)(4) be the Time human Constitution (1090).



Provisions creating state obligations in respect of social security are of two main types:

- In some cases, social security (meant, in this context, to encompass social assistance) is treated as a duty directly imposed upon the State. These provisions affirm a duty of the State to take action, for example to ensure the social security or health of citizens, organize the social security system or protect families or vulnerable groups but do not create individual entitlements. One example of this approach is found in article 34 of the Constitution of Saudi Arabia:
 "The State guarantees the rights of the citizen and his family in cases of emergency, illness and disability, and in old age; it supports the system of social security and encourages institutions and individuals to contribute in acts of charity." The Constitution of Ghana (1996) Art 37, (6) (b) requires the State to provide "social assistance to the aged such as will enable them to maintain a decent standard of living".
- Some affirm an **individual right to social security** social protection, social assistance or health. Article 43 of the Constitution of **Kenya** (2010) recognizes the right of every person to social security and that the State shall provide appropriate social security to persons who are unable to support themselves and their dependants.²³. confers an individual right to social security and imposes a duty on the State to fulfil the rights, but it nevertheless qualifies the duty by only requiring the State to progressively realize the right within its available resources.

The most comprehensive constitutional protection of social security and social assistance in Southern Africa undoubtedly comes from **South Africa**. In the chapter dealing with the Bill of Rights, the South African Constitution grants everyone certain fundamental rights, and expects the State to respect, protect, promote and fulfil those rights (section 7(2)). The Constitution grants to everyone '[t]he right to have access to social security, including, if they are unable to support themselves and their dependents, appropriate social assistance' (section 27(1)(c)), and **obliges the State to implement appropriate measures:** 'The state must take reasonable legislative and other measures, within its available resources, to achieve the **progressive realization** of each of these rights' (section 27(2)).

Many constitutions recognize the right to health for all persons, while the right to social security, social protection and social assistance is often reserved for citizens. Under certain constitutions, non-nationals may be entitled to medical care paid out of public funds, but not to social security benefits.

One example is the Constitution of **Slovenia:**

- Article 50 Right to social security Citizens have the right to social security, including the right to a pension, under conditions provided by law.
- Article 51 Right to health care Everyone has the right to health care under conditions provided by law

The ILO Committee of the Application of Standards (CEACR) acknowledged that extending the right to social security, including the right to medical care, to non-citizens is a key challenge for many societies today. With regard to the noncitizens, even where they are in an irregular status on the territory of another State, such as undocumented workers, they should have access to basic benefits and particularly to emergency medical care.

²³ http://www.icla.up.ac.za/images/constitutions/kenya_constitution.pdf



Box 8: The role of courts in protecting social security as a human right

Courts play an important role in giving effect to constitutional rights related to social protection, including social assistance. The Indian Supreme Court, for example, recognized in various judgments the right to social security and healthcare, as indirect rights derived from the right to life contained in article 21 of the Indian Constitution.²⁴ Similarly, in the seminal case of Khosa v Minister of Social Development,²⁵ the South African Constitutional Court held that a statutory provision which excluded non south African permanent residents and their children from access to social assistance was unconstitutional: the provision infringed their constitutional rights to human dignity, equality and access to appropriate social assistance

Source: http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/expertcom/using-human-rights-in-the-courts-to-broaden-social-protectionthe-south-african-example/

http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/legaldep/provision-of-social-security-for-permanent-residents-in-south-africa/

A repository of legal cases in different countries can be found online: http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/ legaldepository/legal-cases/

FISCAL CONSTRAINTS AND A RIGHTS-BASED APPROACH 2.5

Responding to the social protection needs of the population requires a sufficient level of resources. It is a major contention of human rights approaches that "the principle of progressive realization cannot to be used as an excuse to justify sustained levels of chronic or extreme poverty, but rather endows States with an **immediate minimum core** obligation to ensure the satisfaction of, at the very least, minimum essential levels of all economic, social and cultural rights"²⁶. (See also HODULE FIN for a discussion on Social Protection financing).

Legal commitments made in constitutions or laws for sustainable funding of social assistance need to be informed by evidence and national social dialogue. Such commitments are made by stakeholders according to the laws of the country (parliament, social dialogue...). They need to take informed decisions based on evidence, which include needs assessment, institutional feasibility studies and social policy costing and planning.

For example, costing studies in the **Philippines** helped reduce the anxiety of members of parliament and officials of ministries of finance concerning the amount of budget allocations needed to implement the Law on Social pensions after its adoption in 2011.27

R. 202's point of departure, based on studies from ILO, UNICEF, World Bank is that poor countries are able to afford a core set of nationally defined social security guarantees which secure protection aimed at preventing or alleviating poverty, vulnerability and social exclusion to those who are not protected, at any level of social and economic development, and, then, progressively to provide higher levels of protection.

The AU Social Policy Framework of 2008 remarks that a minimum package of essential social protection has been shown to be affordable, even in low-income countries, within existing resources, if properly managed (par 33).²⁸

²⁶ Sepulveda and Nyst (2012), Human rights approaches to social protection, Ministry of Foreign affairs of Finland, p. 20
²⁷ Sevilla A (2017) PPT on Social Pension in Philippines, Coalition of Services of the Elderly, Webinar on Fiscal Space offered by Platform Socialprotection.org accessed 26.01.2017 ²⁰⁷ For similar remarks by the Asian Development Bank (ADB) and the ILO, see ADB Social Protection for Older Persons: Social Pensions in Asia (2012) 151 and ILO World Social Protection Report 2014-2015 (2014) 149-150.



While the establishment and maintenance of social assistance programmes has been shown to be, in principle, affordable even for poorer countries²⁹, these programmes nevertheless face **competing priorities for allocations** from country's finances. Seekings (2016, p. 24)³⁰ showed that there is a "feasibility gap" between technical feasibility of social protection guarantees and their **political and social acceptance:** "The political ceiling on reforms is far lower than the ceiling suggested in technical studies of fiscal space." These have to do with competing normative views and political rewards; bridging that gap is the role of the process of national dialogue and public engagements.

In fact, national dialogue is an instrument that generates political acceptance for social reforms which are never to be taken for granted, even after approval of a Law; the dialogue between parliament and social partners and representatives of people concerned, helps in the negotiation of the acceptable balance between normative views regarding protection of priority social circumstances, risks and eligible categories of people, benefit amounts, (...) and fiscal implications (see Section 3.5).

For example R. 202 gives a role to national dialogue in determining the appropriate reference levels for benefit amounts and their systematic review. National regulations could institute such regular consultation processes, by government or with the help of external agencies. These levels are to be nationally defined, as either the monetary value of a set of necessary goods and services, national poverty lines, income thresholds for social assistance or other comparable thresholds established by national law or practice, which may take into account regional differences. Each country develops its own approach (see example of Mexico Coneval later in this module).

In general, the guarantee of constitutionally or legally enshrined principles of sustainability of social benefits schemes requires:

- anticipation and articulation of resources with long-term financial requirements (in view of demographic, macroeconomic trends, etc.),
- avoidance of year to year risks of non or under-funding through multi-year programming and commitments,
- avoidance of retrogression during times of crisis,
- possibility if needed to address additional needed support (for example through contingency funds), at occurrence of shocks,
- adequate financial risk management that ensures continued adequacy, regularity and predictability of benefits and minimizes fraud and mismanagement.

Sustainable and gradual allocations to social assistance can be determined based on prioritization and sound financial planning. Recent country case studies show the use of reallocation of revenue to support social assistance programs.

Brazil, for example, introduced cuts in its civil service pension scheme to enable the financing of its redistributive social assistance schemes.³¹ In the case of **Indonesia**, the flagship cash transfer was greatly funded by the removal of energy state subsidies. Some countries have established sovereign wealth funds, financed through mineral extraction revenue, and used these funds to support social protection programmes including child benefits – for example, the Human Development Fund of Mongolia.³² Lesotho's government has also been successful in creating fiscal space by increasing tax and non-tax revenue. In order to do this, it enhanced its tax collection, among other strategies. This has allowed the government to (gradually) take over the Child Grants Programme payments from the EU as well as the support given by the World Food Programme (WFP) to the primary school feeding programme. In addition, Lesotho's government undertook a fiscal reprioritization a few years ago so as to finance the introduction of a universal Old Age Pension (OAP). The OAP is largely funded from SACU (Southern African Customs Union) revenues received by Lesotho.33

- ³¹ ADB Social Protection for Older Persons: Social Pensions in Asia (2012) 30.
 ³² UNDP Mongolia Human Development Report 2011 23.
 ³³ M Olivier Lesotho Case Study: Report submitted to the European Commission (2013) 11, 13, 18-19.



ILO's 2012 R. 202 on National Floors of Social Protection deals specifically with the issue of financing social assistance.

Box 9: Social Protection Financing in ILO R. 202

11. (1) Members should consider using a variety of different methods to mobilize the necessary resources to ensure financial, fiscal and economic sustainability of national social protection floors, taking into account the contributory capacities of different population groups. Such methods may include, individually or in combination, effective enforcement of tax and contribution obligations, reprioritizing expenditure, or a broader and sufficiently progressive revenue base.

(2) In applying such methods, Members should consider the need to implement measures to prevent fraud, tax evasion and non-payment of contributions.

12. National social protection floors should be financed by national resources. Members whose economic and fiscal capacities are insufficient to implement the guarantees may seek international cooperation and support that complement their own efforts.

Source: ILO Social Protection Floors Recommendation, 2012 (No. 202) paras 11-12

Progressive step by step and systematic implementation of social assistance schemes is a suitable human rights approach. This implies that the legal framework must be developed in a way that tentatively provides a description of full rights ³⁴ but also a road map that allows a country to provide social assistance benefits to be expanded over time. It implies that there **should be movement towards extending protection, both material and personal scope**, as resources become available or by creating fiscal space.

Box 10: Example - Lesotho National Social Protection Strategy.

The NSPS sets out a comprehensive integrated set of core schemes to address risks throughout the life-cycle, as follows:

- 1. a universal infant grant, phased in over four years, to all pregnant women and mothers with under-2s, linked to a range of complementary health and nutrition interventions;
- 2. a scaled-up, but still poverty-targeted, child grant, phased progressively to all extreme poor households with children (approximately 30% of households);
- 3. first steps towards the implementation of a national seasonal employment guarantee scheme to offer public works to the working age poor who need it, and establishment of a basic set of social security benefits for those in the formal sector;
- 4. a continuation of the universal old age pension, though with a reduced age of eligibility, integrated with a mandated contributory pension for all those in formal employment and a voluntary top-up pension for those who wish to make additional savings for their old age;
- 5. a disability grant, phased in over four years, to all those with severe disabilities;
- 6. a reformed discretionary public assistance grant to vulnerable households requiring short-term, reactive, temporary support, estimated at the current level of approximately 0.5% of the population.

³⁴ Example the National Social Protection Strategy of Lesotho envisages protection along the life cycle.



The NSPS recommends (p.28) Lesotho's rights-based social protection framework to be "grounded in a national legislative framework... As with the draft National Social Security Act, **a National Social Protection Act for Lesotho should establish the necessary regulations** – specifying, for example, the range, qualifyingbconditions and levels of benefits – to give legislative effect to the programme guarantees. Systems should be in place to ensure compliance with the national legal framework." Currently only the universal old age pension and a child grant are being implemented. A monitoring mechanism is providing valuable information on progressive implementation.

Source: Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho National Social Protection Strategy accessed http://www.socialprotection.org/gimi/gess/RessourcePDF.action?ressource.ressourceId=50699

Several international and regional instruments also acknowledge the need for progressive implementation of social assistance measures. As noted above, these include the ICESCR, ILO R. 202 of 2012, the Code on Social Security in the SADC, and the new SADC Protocol on Employment and Labour.

ILO R. 202 reiterates the commitment to universal protection, but recognizes that this objective may be reached progressively, giving priority to the implementation of nationally defined social protection floors as a starting point for those countries that do not have a minimum level of social security guarantees (para 13, 1a).

Some developing countries that have comprehensive social assistance programmes in place have introduced initially more modest frameworks, often involving new benefit designs under zero balanced budget reforms before expanding them. Thus for example, the case of **South Africa** where a more modest level of child benefits compared to the one afforded under Apartheid system, was introduced but expanded to higher numbers of people. This can be achieved through constitutional provisions – such as article 27(2) of the South African Constitution– which envisages the progressive attainment of extended coverage, national policies or strategies, and measures appropriately backed by national regulations.

Box 11: Evolving frameworks for social assistance provision

In South Africa, the reach of child grants has been constantly extended to reach more children in need of support by expanding the age threshold for eligibility for the grant.

Some countries in Southern Africa introduced old-age (social) pensions starting with high eligibility age, expanding the reach of these and other social assistance programmes gradually. This has been the case with social pensions and later with the child care/support grants paid in Lesotho.

Some countries, such as Mauritius, initially introduced a targeted old-age benefit meant to benefit only those who are actually poor but later made these programmes universal

Source: Authors

General Comment No. 19: The right to social security (Art. 9 of the CESCR Covenant) explains that States should implement social security schemes to the **maximum available resources** and that where there are restrictions these should also be proportionate and in particular take **into consideration certain vulnerable groups** to ensure the latter are protected even in light of fiscal constraints. In particular, retrogression cannot be applied without explanation and probing of the protection of the most vulnerable.

WHY A RIGHTS-BASED FRAMEWORK FOR SOCIAL PROTECTION IS IMPORTANT



Art. 9 of the CESCR Covenant states that "While the Covenant provides for progressive realization and acknowledges the constraints owing to the limits of available resources, the Covenant also imposes on States parties various obligations which are of **immediate effect:** States parties have immediate obligations in relation to the right to social security, such as the guarantee that the right will be exercised **without discrimination of any kind** (article 2, paragraph 2), ensuring the **equal rights of men and women** (article 3), and the **obligation to take steps** (article 2, paragraph 1) towards the full realization of articles 11, paragraph 1, and 12. Such steps must be **deliberate, concrete and targeted** towards the full realization of the right to social security".³⁵

Progressive realization is qualified by expectations that:

- 1. **"Progressive realization is realistic but demanding"**: a government should demonstrate it is actually using all resources available to do so. Input from civil society and the public is critical for ensuring that decisions reflect public priorities and people's greatest needs. For example in the 2000s the **South African** Government claimed not to have enough resources to fund the prevention of mother to child transmission of HIV. The South African Civil Society group Treatment Action Campaign pointed out that government was systematically underspending an important portion of its health budget. South African's High Court concurred ruling that resources were evidently available and had to be used to safeguard the right to life and the right to health of children.
- Governments are obliged to continuously improve conditions that are fundamental to the realization of ESC rights. Resources allocated must increase proportionally to the overall budget, and the realization of rights has to be demonstrated by appropriate outcome indicators; the actual right (to nutrition, to schooling, etc. must be realized progressively, not only more money being spent.
- 3. **Retrogressive measures may not be taken intentionally;** social spending cuts need to be explained and probed in order to ensure that they are not undermining the achievement of rights that have previously been achieved.
- 4. Protective measures during times of crises, within fiscal responsibility. Even in crises, governments must evaluate all options and ensure maximum resources are used to protect and not diminish the enjoyment of rights that are absolutely necessary to provide significant protection to those most at risk.
- 5. **Other obligations of immediate effect relating to non-discrimination** and minimum levels of enjoyment of human rights required to maintain inherent human dignity.

Box 12: Progressive realisation of rights in South Africa

In South Africa, progressive realization has been interpreted in such a way that rationing access to full realization of rights must be subject to measures that are rational (explicit), reasonable (cost efficient, moderate compared to goals) and defensible (in legal and respect human rights, ethics, etc..).¹

This implies that:

Step 1: the complete right must be specified (for example benefit for all children - under 15 or 18)

Step 2: a formal and explicit policy framework must exist to give right to the complete right and finally,

- Step 3: the status of the right must be officially reported on (for example only children under 5 are covered initially),
- Step 4: a formal reporting system is implemented to track performance of achievements

Source: Alex van den Heever (2012) Social protection floor in South Africa, ILO Paper for Department of Social Development of South Africa

³⁵ http://www.refworld.org/docid/47b17b5b39c.html



2.6 TAKE-AWAY LESSONS

- A social assistance legal framework including a law provides the government with a legal mandate to provide social assistance benefits and gives expression to the principle that social protection is a human right.
- A social assistance law should deal with several important aspects, including: the identification of beneficiaries; nature and level of benefits, entitlement to benefits, qualifying conditions, the establishment, functions and powers of the institution responsible for paying benefits; the sources of funding for social assistance; enforcement; and the avoidance of fraud.
- The UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights of 1948 and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) of 1966 emphasize the right of every person to social security and to an adequate standard of living.
- In 2012 the ILO adopted Recommendation 202 on National Floors of Social Protection. It provides guidance for establishing and maintaining comprehensive social security systems, etc.
- The African Union's Social Policy Framework of 2008 argues for the extension of social protection through measures such as publicly financed, non-contributory cash transfers. The AU Protocol on the rights of citizens to social protection and socia security, and Social Agenda 2063 strengthen the human rights anchor of social protection in Africa.
- The Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) recently adopted a Protocol on Employment and Labour (2014) which enjoins each State Party to develop a social protection system, ensuring coverage for all – including through social assistance.
- National constitutions play an increasingly important role in providing for social security and social assistance in particular, with a strong role for national courts and possible litigation which helps redress individual cases and improve gradually the interpretation and application of the rights based legal and institutional social security system.
- A minimum package of essential social protection has been shown to be affordable, even in low-income countries, within existing resources. There are also several options available to governments for maintaining and expanding fiscal space for social assistance.
- In line with the idea that a country's context and fiscal ability may change, a social assistance law should envisage the progressive realisation of extended coverage in line with international, regional and even national instruments



CONSTRUCTING A NATIONAL LEGAL BASIS FOR SOCIAL ASSISTANCE

3.1 OBJECTIVES

Upon completion of this section of the module, you should be able to:

- Reflect the place of the legal framework for social assistance within the broader social security and social protection system of a country
- Consider the importance of a legal framework for achieving national policy objectives and priorities
- Describe the key elements that should be comprised in the social assistance legal framework and are necessary for granting and extending social assistance benefits
- Reflect on the different modalities employed by countries to determine the range of social assistance beneficiaries
- Explain the range and kind of social assistance benefits countries may provide through the legal system and the role that national policy objectives play in this regard
- Describe how social assistance legislation deals with (i) funding arrangements for social assistance, and (ii) policy-setting and implementation in the area of social assistance
- Reflect on the role of dialogue with social partners at the national level as part of the process of developing social assistance policy and considering the passing of social assistance legislation
- Assess the importance of research, analysis and the regular review of social assistance systems as regards the dynamic provision of social assistance

3.2 DEVELOPING THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

For the reasons discussed earlier in this module, nowadays, countries tend to adopt a legislative framework for social assistance. Ideally, this should be contained in a national law, which provides the basis for more detailed regulation by the relevant lead minister. This is the approach adopted by, for example, Kenya and South Africa in their social assistance laws (of 2010 and 2004, respectively).



The development of legislative frameworks needs to be grounded on a policy that is determined through a participatory approach. It follows institutional and financial feasibility studies as well as a needs assessment. It may be helpful to take note of the direction given by ILO R. 202 on National Floors of Social Protection in this regard, where it calls on Member States to (par 14):

- identify gaps in, and barriers to, protection;
- set objectives reflecting national priorities.

All too often social assistance schemes and their underlying statutory instruments are developed piecemeal, without consideration of the rest of the system. The legislative framework for social assistance should fit within the broader picture of the social security and social protection systems of a country and labour laws generally which requires undertaking a legal review.

In that regard, ILO R. 202 on National Floors of Social Protection calls members states (par 14) for coordinated and complementary approaches between different instruments by:

- seeking to close gaps in protection through appropriate and effectively coordinated schemes, whether contributory or non-contributory (or both);
- complementing social security with active labour market policies, including vocational training and other measures, as appropriate.

Ideally, the emphasis should be, having an overarching legal framework in place indicating where and how the different components of the system fit together, and what the role and place of social assistance is within this system.

Some attempts to do this appear in the **Mozambican** Law on Social Protection of 2007. This law makes overall provisions for the different components of the social protection system in Mozambique. Specific legal instruments have subsequently been developed to give effect to the components of the system – for example, Regulations on Basic Social Security were introduced by decree in 2009 to regulate social assistance matters.

A rigorous drafting process requires qualified staff, sufficient time and involvement of stakeholders at relevant moments, and in a final stage, iterative adjustments and discussions between ministerial staff and members of Parliamentary drafting committees. Finally, last but not least, the process involves the important work of education and raising awareness about the law, including through information campaigns and broad social dialogue.

3.3 ESTABLISHING THE MAIN PARAMETERS BY LAW

At a minimum the social assistance legal framework should establish key design elements including beneficiary identification, qualifying conditions and conditionalities, range of benefits, and levels of benefits by reference to benchmarks.

3.3.1 Beneficiary Identification

It is important for the legal framework to clearly identify who are the intended beneficiaries of benefit - the "rightholders". It is of course crucial to making sure that a benefit is made available only to those intended to benefit from the particular social assistance scheme or program and this hinges on the precise definition of entitlement.



Box 13: South Africa's Independent Tribunal for Social Assistance Appeals

The Independent Tribunal for Social Assistance Appeals hears social assistance appeals against the decisions of the South African Social Security Agency (SASSA). The tribunal is constituted in terms of Section 18(2)(b) of the Social Assistance Act of 2004. Members of the tribunal consist of legal practitioners, medical doctors and representatives of civil society. It acts independently from the Department of Social Development. The independent tribunal considers a SASSA decision and the reasons for SASSA to turn down the application and the appellant's grounds of appeal. It then confirms or sets aside the SASSA decision or makes any other just decision. In 2010, SASSA received nearly 4.7 million applications for social grants. Of these, about 290,000 had been rejected, leading to some 65,000 appeals. The economic situation had driven desperate people, usually unemployed or chronically ill, to seek disability grants for which they were not qualified. The Department of Social Development has said that "In most instances, applications turned down are for disability grants when the nature or severity of the alleged disability does not satisfy the requirements, or when medical reports by the attending medical officers indicate that the applicants do not have a disability," said the department.

Source: Mail and Guardian (2011) Appeals Tribunal assists thoursands to challenge social grant rejection, accessed online http://mg.co.za/article/2011-09-30-appeals-tribunal-assists-thousands-to-challenge-social-grant-rejection

The law should be quite specific about the personal attributes of those who are meant to qualify: e.g., persons above or below a certain age (old age pension; child care grant), persons with disabilities (disability benefit), etc.

Box 14: Example of Disability Grant definition in the South Africa Social assistance Act of 2004

Disability grant

A person is, (...) eligible for a disability grant, if he or she:

- a. has attained the prescribed age; and
- b. is, owing to a physical or mental disability, unfit to obtain by virtue of any service, employment or profession the means needed to enable him or her to provide for his or her maintenance.

Source: http://www.saflii.org/za/legis/consol_act/saa2004174/



Box 15: Example of Old Age and Disability Grant definitions in the Namibian National Pension Act of 1992

Old age and disability grant

- 1. "aged person" means any person who has attained the age of sixty years; "blind person" means any person who has been registered as a blind person under any law ... and has attained the age of 16 years;
- "disabled person" means any person who is, owing to any physical or any mental disability, incapable to obtain from any employment or the practising of any profession or trade, or from the rendering of any service, the means needed to enable him or her to adequately provide for his or her own maintenance, and has attained the age of 16 years;
- 3. 1) Subject to the provisions of this Act, any person shall be entitled to the national pension concerned if he or she satisfies the Permanent Secretary
 - (a) that he or she is an aged, blind or disabled person, as the case may be;
 - (b) that at the time of his or her application for a national pension, he or she is ordinarily resident in Namibia; and
 - (c) that he or she (i) is a Namibian citizen; or (ii) has been lawfully admitted to Namibia for permanent residence and had been so resident in Namibia for a continuous period immediately preceding the date of his or her application for a national pension as may be prescribed.

Source: http://ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/ELECTRONIC/30009/96214/F257135352/NAM30009.pdf

In other instances where the identification is much more general such as the **Zimbabwean** Social Welfare Assistance Act of 1998 that extends social welfare assistance to "any destitute or indigent person", there is much less clarity and enforceability of such right.

Some legal systems extend temporary assistance to broader categories of people in need. This is the case with the 'social relief of distress' benefits provided for by the **South African** legislation.

3.3.2 Social Assistance for Non-citizens?

Many countries restrict social assistance benefits to citizens only. However, this may raise questions about theapplication of the right to equal treatment of foreign residence, which is often enshrined in the constitution of a country and protected in international and regional instruments. ILO R. 202 makes it clear that Member States should provide the basic social security guarantees defined for in the Recommendation to at least all residents and all children subject to international obligations (par 6).

In **South Africa**, based on the constitutional guarantee contained in the constitution, the Constitutional Court has ruled that permanent residents and their children are entitled to social assistance benefits. Subsequent constitutional challenges in South Africa have led to the extension of this protection to refugees too. The **Namibian** National Pensions Act, 1992, stipulates that permanent residents who have been residing in Namibia for a continuous period, as prescribed, immediately preceding the date of his or her application for a national pension, will qualify for a national pension

R. 202 endorses the principle of universal protection as the ultimate goal. It states that, subject to their existing international obligations, Member States should provide the basic social security guarantees to all residents, and to all children (irrespective of their residence status). The definitions of the terms "residents" and "children" should correspond to those found in national laws and regulations. However, while it allows national law and practice to define who are the residents and children benefiting from the SPFs, the Recommendation recognizes that this definition needs to be in conformity witheach country's international obligations, including those under relevant legally binding human rights instruments such as the International Covenant of



3.3.3 Qualifying Conditions for a Benefit

In accordance with human rights standards, complying with the principle of non-discrimination means that all eligibility criteria must be **objective**, **reasonable**, **and transparent**³⁷. The law should establish the conditions the beneficiaries should meet in order to qualify to a benefit. These differ according to benefit type and country context. Most often certain benefit types require specific proof of the existence of the situation or condition that is the rationale for providing the benefit. For example, for somebody to qualify for a disability benefit, the person must indeed suffer from a medically certified disability as defined in the legislation and may require, for example, the necessary supporting proof of medical certificates to this effect. Likewise, an older person must have reached the required age granting them access to a social pension. In other words, the social assistance legislation must contain clear definitions and specifically enumerate the conditions set for access to each and every benefit.

Of particular importance is also the question whether the benefit is only made available to poor people/households, or universally to all persons falling within certain broad categories of the population without a means-test. In the first situation, countries introduce selection or targeting criteria in either the general law or, more often, the subsequent regulations issued. These criteria may stipulate, for example, that only people earning below a certain income threshold and with few assets can benefit (means or **asset tests** or a combination), or conversely may exclude people above certain thresholds (**affluency test**) or those already receiving a (contributory) pension (**pension test**).

Selection or targeting criteria in some countries are formulated on the basis of a **poverty line**, to be determined by government on the basis of several criteria, and which could differ according to whether a rural or urban area is in question. Access to social assistance support in India, for example, is often dependent on whether the beneficiary belongs to a household belonging to the so-called BPL (Below Poverty Line) list put together by government. Such Poverty targeting is not a simple technical endeavor. Two common poverty targeting methods are based on **community targeting** or statistical based targeting (**proxy means targeting**). The two selection modalities represent difficulties in terms of a rights based approach because the first is not "**shame-proof**", the second may lack full **transparency**, and both may impact on **equality and possibility** of redress.

One problem of proxy means testing is also that income is assessed at household level and not individual level, compromising the idea of individual entitlement. In addition, assets are taken as proxys of income; however, old people may not be relatively asset poor compared to the community because they have built slightly better homes through time for example, but they may be consumption poor. See **E** MODULE S&I for more discussion.

Other countries make the receipt of benefits **conditional** upon the beneficiary meeting certain other – often lifestyle or behaviour – requirements, such as vaccination and school attendance of targeted children as is the case in various countries in Latin America. "State parties are obliged to immediately meet minimum essential levels to the rights of food, health, housing, education and social security. These are inherent human rights and not conditional on the performance of certain actions or meeting requirements. Although these commitments can contribute to strengthen rights to education or health, they may **suggest that people living in poverty cannot make rational choices** to improve their lives, which could have the undesired consequence of reinforcing prevalent stereotypes about the poor—that they are careless and irresponsible, which is not supported by evidence. In this sense, **conditionalities run the risk of violating the right to dignity of the poor**"³⁸. Absence of utilization of public social and health services may be due to poor quality, lack of trust, opportunity costs. See **MODULE** ADM.

³⁷ http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/key-issues/universality-of-protection-and-effective-access/eligibility-criteria-and-entitlementconditions- including-conditionalities/ ³⁸ http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/framework/principles/dignity-and-autonomy/



Box 16: R. 202 guidance on basic social security benefit arrangements:

- 9. (1) In providing the basic social security guarantees, Members should consider different approaches with a view to implementing the most effective and efficient combination of benefits and schemes in the national context.
 - (2) Benefits may include child and family benefits, sickness and health-care benefits, maternity benefits, disability benefits, old-age benefits, survivors' benefits, unemployment benefits and employment guarantees, and employment injury benefits as well as any other social benefits in cash or in kind.
 - (3) Schemes providing such benefits may include universal benefit schemes, social insurance schemes, social assistance schemes, negative income tax schemes, public employment schemes and employment support schemes.

Source: ILO Social Protection Floors Recommendation, 2012 (No. 202)

The **range of social assistance benefits**, **and levels of these benefits** should be specified in the Law. They need to reflect national circumstances, that is to say national policy preference determined through a participatory approach with relevant stakeholders and financial resources.

As indicated before, the experience in many developing countries, including several Southern African countries, has been to introduce social assistance benefits incrementally according to the international principle of progressive realisation. The introduction of social pensions for the elderly, for example, is often followed by other benefit types, particularly disability and child grants.

In most cases the national law will make provisions for the specific benefit types (including for when new benefit types are to be introduced) and leave the detailed provisions to regulations – as is the case with the **South African** Social Assistance Act of 2004 and the regulations corresponding to the Act.

Box 17: Introducing new benefit types

In order to maintain synergy in the system and avoid unnecessary duplication and fragmentation, it is advisable to introduce new benefit types by amending the existing framework law rather than adopting separate legislation. However, regular adjustments to the level of benefits to reflect rising living costs are ideally achieved via regulation promulgated by the relevant political head (i.e. the minister concerned). This keeps programme administrators from having to approach parliament every time an obvious updating of the amount payable is required.

Source: ILO (2014) Social Protection Floor Assessment Namibia.

R. 202 recommends in its Art 9. (2) "Benefits may include child and family benefits, sickness and health-care benefits, maternity benefits, disability benefits, old-age benefits, survivors' benefits, unemployment benefits and employment guarantees, and employment injury benefits as well as any other social benefits in cash or in kind". Essentially, a social security perspective would advocate, according to national determination, prioritization of contingencies and social risks across the life cycle as discussed in **^{III}** MODULE S&I.



The level of benefits can be specified in reference to a constitutional determination (minimum wage levels in Brazil), or to indirect standards to be attained. R. 202 for example refers to benefits such that:

- persons in need of health care should not face hardship and an increased risk of poverty due to the financial consequences of accessing essential health care. Free prenatal and postnatal medical care for the most vulnerable should also be considered;
- basic income security should allow life in dignity. Nationally defined minimum levels of income may correspond to the monetary value of a set of necessary goods and services, national poverty lines, income thresholds for social assistance or other comparable thresholds established by national law or practice, and may take into account regional differences;

Once set, the effective levels of benefits can be monitored and assessed compared to the agreed benchmarks. Legislation can specify the need and process to review regularly the level of benefits. Unfortunately the absence of that requisite has led to a persistence fall of the real value of benefits and their purchasing power in many countries, notably in Latin America. For that, according to R. 202:

- the levels of basic social security guarantees should be regularly reviewed through a transparent procedure that is established by national laws, regulations or practice, as appropriate; and
- in regard to the establishment and review of the levels of these guarantees, tripartite participation with representative organizations of employers and workers, as well as consultation with other relevant and representative organizations of persons concerned, should be ensured.

In reality, according to international standards such as R. 202, the value of guarantees need to reflect and be monitored not only in monetary – income terms but against the performance of social outcomes (nutrition, school, health). In effect, the social protection floors referred to in R 202, are in cash or in kind provisions which are understood to be compatible and complementary for example to available, accessible and quality health services and basic income security for children need to be of sufficient level and available in conjunction with necessary goods and services to allow children to access nutrition, education, care amongst other necessities.

Although it has been recognize that the provision of monetary benefits is more efficient than in kind in many occasions including in emergencies, **social assistance benefits need not be restricted to cash or monetary benefits.** Many national legal systems acknowledge the importance of various forms of non-monetary benefits as tools in poverty alleviation. Many systems may also recognize the need to link access to social assistance benefits to other programs aimed at support and income generation. (See also **MODULE** FIN). This has come to be known in the region as the "cash-plus" agenda (see also in **MODULE** COO).

The **Zimbabwean** Social Welfare Assistance Act, 1998, provides for a wide range of non-financial benefits such as: rehabilitation, institutional nursing, boarding or foster home care; occupational training; orthopedic and orthotic appliances; pauper burials; the supply of food and clothing; and 'any other assistance necessary...' (section 5(b)).

Similarly, in **Mozambique**, the Regulations on Basic Social Security (2009) provide for benefits, in cash or in kind, and for social support benefits, translating into the provision of services, programmes and projects for community development, targeting those in need in terms of housing, shelter, food and means of compensation (article 2). Primary healthcare is also included (article 10), as is the case with access to education and support services (such as school feeding schemes) (article 13). Of particular importance is the treatment in the Regulations of 'social integration through work' as part of basic social security. These are considered to be opportunities for the development of productive activities through which people living in absolute poverty can support themselves and their families (article 19).

Sometimes the social realities of a country would require the replacement of one benefit type with another. In **South Africa**, for example, the Child Support Grant was introduced in the 1990s, replacing the former State Maintenance Grant. Instead of focusing on single mothers and their children (as was the case under the previous programme), the Child Support Grant is available to any primary caregiver responsible for a child living in poverty. By doing so, the new grant has been able to reach a significantly larger number of children living in poor households. This required a change to the existing law.



3.4 FUNDING AND INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

3.4.1 Funding Arrangements

Two additional key issues usually addressed by social assistance legislation relate to, first, funding arrangements and second, the main institutional arrangements of a programme. It is important to indicate in the law the source(s) of funding, in particular funding that emanates from the State budget. This gives government a statutory mandate to make provisions for state-provided benefits each time the yearly budget is developed. Some social assistance laws make reference to funding in broad or general terms. See also **MODULE** FIN.

The **Mozambican** Regulations indicate the following sources (article 23):

- Allocations from the State Budget
- Contributions, donations, grants or subsidies from public or private entities, domestic or foreign
- Other revenues obtained by any legally permitted means.

Similar provisions are contained in section 9 of the **South African** Social Security Agency Act, 2004. This Act further regulates the utilization of funds, the undertaking of accounting, and the requirement of a yearly audit, as well as the acquisition, holding and disposal of property (sections 9-12).

3.4.2 Institutional Arrangements

National social assistance legal frameworks should provide an institutional structure for existing schemes. Again, the scope of these frameworks varies in accordance with different perspectives on governance and management models best suited for the country context. Given the fact that social assistance benefits are mostly paid out of a country's (central) budget, it is obvious that governments will play a direct role in this area. The intensity and nature of this role and the structures set up for this purpose may differ significantly. Also relevant is the political internal organization (e.g. federal/provincial jurisdiction, degree of decentralization, etc.) See MODULE GOV for in depth discussion of governance and institutional models.

Some countries prefer strong government control. For example, in **South Africa**, the CEO of the South African Social Security Agency (SASSA) reports directly to the Minister of Social Development, who can effectively override any decision taken by the CEO through the power of direction.³⁹ Similarly, in **Mozambique**, a Coordination Council for the Basic Social Security Subsystem is responsible for the articulation of the Subsystem, comprising various Ministers as well as representatives of public and private entities 'linked to the social action area'. **Kenya**, on the other hand, has opted for a National Social Assistance Authority. The management of the Authority rests with a board to be known as the Board of Management, which comprises representatives of several public institutions (and has no private sector representation) (Social Assistance Act, 2013, sections 3-11).

As such, several matters need to be regulated, especially through a law, to ensure that an effective management structure for social assistance provisioning is in place. These include: the composition of the institutional structure overseeing the delivery of social assistance; the powers and functions, , of the person/institution responsible for overall management, his or her responsibilities/ obligations and related sanctions; the appointment of staff members; and standards of ethical conduct applicable to staff members (e.g., the requirement that staff members sign a Code of Good Conduct).

Finally, concrete social assistance administration can happen at different levels. In many Southern African countries, national social assistance administration is, for a variety of reasons, centralized. Other countries may choose, if not constitutionally required to do so, to cascade administration down to the local level. In Nepal, for example, the Old-age Allowance is administered by the Ministry of Local Development at the local level, through the assistance of Village Development Committees. Social assistance laws should thus make clear at what level the service should be rendered and describe the nature of the involvement of decentralized structures.

³⁹ See the South African Social Security Agency Act, 2004, section 6.



The ILO Committee of Experts of Application of Conventions and Recommendations wrote that "the principle of the overall state responsibility guarantees that the State cannot invoke administrative decentralization in order to avoid being held accountable for bad management or lack of ensuring effective protection under national social security schemes"⁴⁰.

The court case "Mashava v. The President of Republic of South Africa" was the first time the constitutional court upheld the constitutional right to social assistance in South Africa. It ruled that, under prevailing circumstances then, the delivery of social assistance at the provincial level meant that some citizens got better access to their constitutional rights than others and called on the government to promptly reform the system in a manner compliant with the constitution.

The case challenged the delegation of administration of social assistance to provincial governments which resulted in persistent failures in some provinces to deliver timely and adequate social benefits. The court ruled that 'social assistance is indeed a matter that cannot be regulated effectively by provincial legislation, or that to be performed effectively it requires to be regulated or coordinated by uniform norms and standards"⁴¹. This led to the creation, later on, of the **South Africa** social security agency to enhance coordination, and consistent and effective delivery systems.

3.5 DOMESTIC LAWS, PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS AND SOCIAL MOBILIZATION

Evidence has shown that engaging with social partners (i.e. union and employer bodies) in social policy design, including the development of social assistance policy and the consideration of social assistance legislation leads to more acceptable and legitimate legal frameworks and implementation.

One form to increase participation and engagement in broader social protection agenda by traditional social security social partners is to encourage the development of position papers on social protection floors.

In **Mozambique**, CTM, the Workers Confederation produced a position paper on Social protection floors. This prompted significant debate inside the organization about the need to consider the role of workers representatives in support to quality public services and social policies for all, and not only for formally employed women and men.

Conversely non-traditional partners can participate in more traditional social security matters. In **South Africa**, for example, this task is shared by representatives of government, trade union federations, employers' organizations, and civil society in the fourchamber National Economic Development and Labour Council (Nedlac).

ILO R. 202 of 2012 on National Floors of Social Protection specifically advocates for tripartite participation, with representative organizations of employers and workers, as well as **consultation with other relevant and representative organizations of persons concerned** (par 3(r); see also par 8(d)).

Indeed, broad public consultation, which includes a broader range of stakeholders and (intended) beneficiaries, assists in developing a multi-pillar framework and ensuring coverage in a holistic and integrated fashion. This is important for at least the following reasons (considering the example of retirement provision):

- Pensions involve increasingly, not only contributory components but also minimum provisions which can be state subsidized; this together with the growing importance of state funded social pensions implies that such a policyframework concerns all citizens as voters and as tax payers.
- Chronically poor and vulnerable people, in certain categories of the population (such as chronic disabled) may not be adequately represented by traditional social partners and require specific representation of their interests to voice their needs in such policy frameworks.
- A "missing middle" of elderly people who are left uncovered because they are not poor enough to be eligible for state pensions given restrictive entitlement conditions of social benefits (issues discussed by pro poor organizations) and are not rich enough to qualify for contributory pensions (issues discussed by more traditional social partners), also justifies a broader representation of actors in national policy frameworks.

⁴⁰General Survey concerning social security instruments in light of the 2008 Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization, 2011 available online http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_152602.pdf ⁴¹ Bruni, M L (2016) Reforming Social assistance system, in Alam A. e al (2016) Making it happen, World Bank Group



As part of R. 202, ILO Member States are encouraged to regularly convene national consultations to assess progress and discuss policies for the further extension of social protection (par 20). Broader consultation fosters the **understanding and buy-in of the public in general and of those directly affected by the system** in particular. There are many good comparative examples of this approach.

In **South Africa**, for example, the Committee of Inquiry into a Comprehensive System for Social Security (2000-2002) consulted extensively with stakeholders, the general public and experts when it was tasked with advising the government on reform to the social security and the social assistance systems.⁴² A participatory process also informed pension reform in Chile during the period 2006-2008. A multi-disciplinary and politically diverse Advisory Council was designated to respond to the concerns and queries of citizens. The Council organized regular public hearings with as many citizen representatives as possible. As a result, the new pension system in Chile strengthened the role of the State in guaranteeing social security, integrated contributory and tax funding in a single system, and increased coverage of the most vulnerable.⁴³

Box 18: National dialogue and social assistance policy reform in Brazil

'In Brazil, a national social security forum (Fórum Nacional da Previdência Social – FNPS) promoted debate among representatives of workers, pensioners, employers and the Federal Government on ways to improve and guarantee the sustainability of the new pension system and social assistance policy. This dialogue produced a National Consensus (Sintese das Atividades Desenvolvidas) with regard to the labour market, demographic transition, disability pensions, survivor pensions, rural pensions, gender issues, the management and financing of the system, and coordination between pensions and assistance benefits.'

Source: ISSA Dynamic Social Security for the Americas: Social Cohesion and Institutional Diversity – Developments and Trends (2010) 22

Public consultation supposes that states do take initiative for social policy reform. But **social movements may also be at the origin of social policy reforms** as Box 19 exemplifies.

Populations concerned can also use international standards and international goals to push for domestic laws on social protection and then more importantly will use such **domestic laws** to push for greater financial efforts. They can build broad coalitions of citizens through constant engagements, networking, advocacy efforts.

⁴² Transforming the Present. Protecting the Future – Consolidated Report (Report of the Committee of Inquiry into a Comprehensive System of Social Security for South Africa, 2002).
⁴³ ISSA Dynamic Social Security for the Americas: Social Cohesion and Institutional Diversity – Developments and Trends (2010) 23.



Box 19: Example of Philippines Social pension

The Philippine Constitution obliges the State to protect and promote the welfare of all senior citizens (7.6 million as of 2015). In 2009 a major public campaign was led by organizations including the Coalition of Services of the Elderly (COSE) and the Confederation of Older Person Associations of the Philippines (COPAP) in favour of a PhP 1500 monthly social pension. The organizations managed to have the proposal discussed in a bicameral session. But it received strong opposition from some lawmakers arguing that the government could not afford to finance such amount. Subsequent negotiations lowered the benefit amount to PhP 500 with an added provision to review it every 2 years. Finally, further advocacy, and engagements directly with the President led to the passage of the Expanded Senior Citizen's Act (Republic Act 9994) in March 2011. The Act outlined a variety of privileges and services for senior citizens (i.e. any resident citizen of the Philippines at least 60 years of age) covering a range of areas including employment, health, education and social protection. The act defines indigent senior citizen as, "any elderly who is frail, sickly or with disability, and without pension or permanent source of income, compensation or financial assistance from his/her relatives to support his/ her basic needs, as determined by the Department of Social Welfare and Development (DSWD) in consultation with the National Coordinating and Monitoring Board."

Despite the adoption of the Law, the Ministry in charge was initially not allocated sufficient budget to cover the estimated 1.2 million indigent Filipino senior citizens. Again through engaging other CSOs, holding several meetings with government agencies, and officials from Ministry of Finance, showcasing Social budget alternatives with Social Budget Watch Philippines, COSE and COPAP built slowly a coalition for effective implementation of the Law. The introduction was very slow first but accelerated over the last years. In its first four years of implementation, the scheme was prioritized to cover indigent senior citizens aged 77 and above, with this age being lowered to 65 in 2015. It is expected that the age will be lowered further to age 60 which should allow the program to fully comply with the law. The social mobilization also managed to increase the financial allocations in such a way that the number of recipients grew exponentially from 139,000 in 2011 to 2.8 million in 2017. In view of the limits of the current social pension to reach a missing middle of elderly who are not sufficiently poor to qualify for social pensions and not rich enough to have a contributory pension, the social movement is now advocating for universal pensions.



Above: Law was approved after social mobilization by representatives of elderly, who attended the discussion in the Parliament (below). It was signed after the representatives met with the President.

Source: Coalition of Services of the Elderly and Help Age, 2016, The Philippine Social Pension at Four Years: Insights and Recommendations and Sevilla, A (2017) Coalition of Services of the Elderly, Webinar Social protection.org accessed 26.01.2017



RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS FOR REGULATORY REFORM 3.6

Constructing a social assistance system and, consequently, its legal framework needs to be informed by context specific research and analysis. This is required, as the demographic, economic and social context of countries differs. A country's prevailing poverty profile and its fiscal capacity are but two of the critical criteria that demand proper evidence base for policy and legal design. It is only through the careful consideration of research results that priority interventions to provide appropriate social assistance to particular categories of persons in need can be designed.

In addition, the dynamic nature of societal changes and the ongoing impact of existing social assistance support make it necessary to regularly review and adjust the social assistance system and its programs, as well as the social assistance legal framework. There may be new categories of vulnerable persons who may have to be accommodated in the legal framework, or enhanced fiscal ability may enable a country to extend coverage. In either case, changes to the regulatory regime will be necessary.

ILO R. 202 of 2012 on National Floors of Social Protection advises that countries should regularly collect, compile, analyze and publish an appropriate range of social protection data, statistics and indicators, disaggregated, in particular, by gender (par 21). (see also MODULE M&E). It suggests that the levels of basic social security guarantees should be regularly reviewed through a transparent procedure that is established by national laws, regulations or practice, as appropriate (par 8(c)); see also par 19). It is a good practice to consider research not only a technical endeavor but a participatory process involving notably members of Parliament and broad national social dialogue.

Box 20: The case of CONEVAL in Mexico

CONEVAL is a credible independent agency ensuring transparency in social policy monitoring. In 2001, Congress decided for the first time in Mexican history that all subsidy programs from the federal government would have an annual evaluation. Here, mistrust was a critical aspect. The opposition wanted to prevent the government from using social programs for political purposes. Toward this end, CONEVAL was instituted as an independent agency, answering to Congress, to monitor poverty and conduct social program evaluations.

change sentence to: CONEVAL sees the production of evidence as more than just technical work, emphasizing the importance of national dialogue. According to the CONEVAL Director "We started from the basis that if we wanted a poverty indicator to be used by political actors, we could not just request a technical team to deliver a formula and then instruct the politician to 'use this methodology'. In Coneval we say, building a measurement and evaluation system is a political challenge with technical elements, not the other way around. Because if you only take into consideration the technical standpoint - which has to be there - but not the actors, that methodology may be perfect, but nobody is going to use it. There has to be a lot of dialogue".

Source: Dimensions, November 2016, Number 1, Multidimensional Poverty Peer Network (MPPN) accessed, http://www mppn.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/DIMENSIONES_1_English_vs2_smallest.pdf

The content of the work reflects constitutional determinations. In Mexico, the Constitution and the Social Development Law stipulates that access to social rights is the guiding principle of the Mexican State's public policies. The Constitution underlines the importance of both income guarantees and broader social outcomes (such as attainment of health, education goals, etc..) in considering the impact of social policies. CONEVAL instituted a multidimensional poverty index to assess the impact of social benefits and public policies. The measurement was decided by the Mexican Congress. The independent assessment and its discussion in Congress assists government review the adequacy of benefits.⁴⁴

Such changes may also be the result of court judgments. For example, the constitutional jurisprudence in South Africa has resulted in the extension of social assistance provision to permanent residents and refugees. The building of adequate social economic research and legal capacity within social assistance institutions is critical to be able to adapt and integrate these new developments into law and practice ⁴⁵.

** Cassim, A (2015) What happens to policy when champions go away, Making Voices Count, available at http://www.makingallvoicescount.org/blog/south-africas-social-welfare-system-happens-policy-champions-go-away/



3.7 TAKE-AWAY LESSONS

- The legal framework should at a minimum set out the eligible people, nature and level of benefits, eligibility criteria
- Social assistance legislation should also specify funding arrangements and the lead policy and implementing institutions of a programme.
- The legislative framework for social assistance should fit within the country's broader social protection framework.
- Social assistance legislation is often quite specific as to the personal attributes of those who are meant to qualify for social assistance. In some cases, it contains clear definitions and specifically enumerates the conditions set for access to each and every benefit. In others, the law stipulates that benefits should be universally available to all persons falling within a particular category.
- In most cases, the social assistance framework law will make provisions for the specific benefit types (including for when new benefit types are to be introduced) and leave the detailed provisions to regulations.
- Social assistance benefits can be in cash or in kind; national legal systems often acknowledge the importance of various forms of non-monetary benefits as tools in poverty alleviation and the need to link social assistance benefits to each other and other programmes (ex: income generation programmes).
- Setting up a social assistance framework should involve consultation with all stakeholders: labour, business, government and civil society.
- Social assistance needs to be informed by research and analysis. Furthermore, the dynamic nature of societal changes and the ongoing impact of existing programmes demand that review and adjustment of the social assistance system be carried out regularly;
- This should not be only a technical matter but a participatory process involving a broad number of stakeholders including government, parliament, social dialogue organisations and representatives of people concerned; it may result in changes in legal frameworks.



PROTECTION OF INDIVIDUAL ENTITLEMENTS AND PROTECTION AGAINST MISUSE OF PERSONAL INFORMATION IN SOCIAL ASSISTANCE

4.1 OBJECTIVES

Upon completion of this section of the module, you should be able to:

- Explain the claimant's right to complain and appeal
- Explain the principles that ensure due process the impact of administrative justice requirements on the provision of social assistance
- Describe the role and importance of adequate complaints and appeal mechanisms, as well as of social accountability mechanisms, in ensuring access to justice and the protection of the rights of social assistance clients
- Evaluate how social assistance legal frameworks ensure the protection of clients' rights and the rendering of customer care and service delivery
- Discuss the modalities employed in social assistance legal frameworks to secure and protect private individual information to which social assistance administrators may have access
- Analyse cases of suspension, cancellation or termination of benefits
- Understand the role of Inspections

4.2 RIGHT TO COMPLAIN AND APPEAL

As provided by international standards, including C. 102 and R. 202, the legal framework should provide for every claimant to have the right to: ⁴⁶

• Request the provision of a benefit that is due according to the law

⁴⁶ Article 70(1) of ILO Convention 102 of 1952 emphasises the right of appeal in case of refusal of the benefit or complaint as to its quality or quantity.



- To complain about the quality or quantity of the benefit due
- To appeal in case of its refusal
- To hold those responsible for the design, administration and implementation of the social assistance scheme accountable.

In some countries the normal courts of law are used; in others special social security or social assistance tribunals are established; yet others use arrangements which exist under the labour law. More details can also be found within **#** MODULE ADM and **#** MODULE M&E.

It is a crucial component of access to justice and the protection of the rights of social assistance clients that they have access to adequate complaints and appeal mechanisms. The comparative evidence, supported by standards and guidelines emanating from the ILO, indicates that a clear distinction has to be drawn between two stages of resolution of social security and social assistance disputes. This implies that:

- A complaining applicant or beneficiary should be able to access the review procedure within the social protection institution that decided on the issue in the first place.
- Thereafter, if the applicant or beneficiary still feels aggrieved and the matter/dispute remains unresolved, he/she should have access to a higher level independent appeal body.

These 'internal' and 'external' adjudication bodies should be institutionally and structurally separate and independent of each other.⁴⁷

World-wide there are several best practice examples of well-developed social security internal dispute resolution systems operating within public social assistance scheme environments. This is, with some exception, not generally true of SADC countries, where little provision has been made for social assistance dispute resolution except for the involvement of the general court system.⁴⁸

One of the notable exceptions, which seems to be building on international precedent, is the review and appeal system applicable to social assistance disputes in **South Africa**. Section 18 of the Social Assistance Act, 2004 essentially provides for two stages of dispute resolution:

- If the applicant or beneficiary disagrees with a decision made by the Agency, he or she may request, in writing, that the Agency reconsider its decision;
- If the applicant or a beneficiary disagrees with a reconsidered decision made by the Agency, he or she may then appeal in writing to a specially appointed appeal institution, i.e. the Independent Tribunal for Social Assistance Appeals (ITSAA).

Regarding appeal, it has to be added that a tribunal, or specialized court, is to be preferred to the general court system of a country. Tribunals or specialized courts have the advantage that they are specialist institutions, which can solve disputes expeditiously, without adherence to formal and strict legal procedures, and inexpensively, given that legal representation is usually forbidden.

In addition to the formal approach to dispute resolution, a more informal process, informed by social accountability mechanisms, was incrementally introduced in recent times. These mechanisms are elaborated upon below.⁴⁹ By primarily utilizing representative collective institutions – set up as government and/or NGO initiatives or established by local communities themselves – clients have been able to raise not only the kind of (individual) disputes provided for by the formal system described above, but also other (collective) grievances relating to service delivery, among other issues.

⁴⁷ See Olivier M (2011) "Social security adjudication in the light of international standards: The need for reform in Southern Africa" – vol 3(1) International Journal of Social Security and Workers Compensation pp. 29-54 at 42; International Labour Organization [ILO], Social security and the rule of law (General Survey concerning social security instruments in light of the 2008 Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization) (Report of the Committee of Experts on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations to the International Labour Conference, 100th Session, 2011- Report III (Part 1B)) (2011) [409]ILO Social security and the rule of law, above n 17, [434].

 <sup>[434].
 &</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See Olivier M (2011) "Social security adjudication in the light of international standards: The need for reform in Southern Africa" – vol 3(1) International Journal of Social Security and Workers Compensation (2011) 29-54 at 43 and, generally, ILO Social security and the rule of law (2011) [409].
 ⁴⁹ Par 5.1.



4.2.1 The Claim Process

The claim process generally requires

- Social assistance legislation needs to include the formal procedure of internal review of an administrative decision. Such a procedure enables a previous decision to be re-examined on receipt of additional information or evidence. Sometimesthe result of the review will be to change the original decision — e.g. to pay rather than refuse benefit, or to pay at a higher (or perhaps even a lower) rate. Alternatively, the result of the review may be to confirm that the original decision was indeed correct.
- The review action will inevitably be followed by a further decision to confirm, revise, or amend the original decision. It is always necessary to formally notify the claimant (preferably in writing) of any decision taken on a claim. It therefore follows that a decision resulting from the review of an earlier decision should also be notified to the claimant.
- The aim is to ensure that each claim is dealt with strictly in accordance with the legislation, objectively and without fear or favour. The review procedures should therefore help to protect a claimant from any risk of refusal of benefit on "personal grounds" or at the whim of a member of the social security institution's staff. This is yet another important reason for ensuring that each and every claim results in a formal preferably written notification to the claimant, explaining the decision made on that claim even where the decision is totally favourable to the claimant. It also adds to the openness and transparency of the scheme to its members.

4.2.2 The right to Judicial appeal

Typically, the appeals procedure will follow this pattern: on receipt of the letter of appeal (and following the reexamination of the claim referred to above) all the documents relating to the claim and the resulting decision will be passed to the clerk to the tribunal. The clerk will then be responsible for convening the tribunal. So far as possible, hearings are held locally in order to provide a greater opportunity for the appellant to attend in person. As pointed out previously, the appellant may choose to be represented and/or accompanied by "a qualified person of his own choice" and this will oftenbe an official of the trade union or workers' association or organization to which the appellant belongs. When the chairperson is satisfied that the tribunal has obtained all relevant information, the appellant and the social security representative will be dismissed. The tribunal will then discuss and consider all the information and reach a decision. That decision may be unanimous or by majority and is normally notified to the appellant and the social security office in writing, by post, by the clerk to the tribunal.

4.2.3 Appeal tribunals

Further rights of appeal, to a higher authority, exist in some countries and the overall procedures will be very similar to those already described. The main difference is that generally the higher the level of appeal, the more highly qualified will be the tribunal members. Some countries also provide for an ultimate right of appeal to be heard by their highest court of law. The action following the appeal will of course depend on the decision given by the tribunal. If it is to confirm the original decision (given by the social security institution) there will be no need for further action, other than to notify the appellant (the claimant) that the tribunal has confirmed the original decision. If, however, the system provides for a further level of appeal, the appellant may decide to exercise the right to appeal to that higher level. In such a case a similar process would follow as was described for the initial appeal. It should also be noted that if the tribunal gives a decision which changes the original decision of the social security institution also has a right of appeal against the tribunal's (revised) decision.

4.3 PRINCIPLE OF DUE PROCESS

The following principles of due process are applicable to administrative and judicial processes. It concerns the requirement that public institutions exercising public power and taking administrative decisions have regard to principles of just administrative action.

This implies, in broad terms, that decisions and actions taken by social assistance administrations and their officials must be **lawful, reasonable and procedurally fair.**



Procedural fairness (often referred to as natural justice requirements), in particular, implies that the social assistance
institution or official making a (potentially) negative decision must give an affected person an opportunity to present his
or her case, and that the institution or official must be impartial. The impartiality requirement suggests that the official
concerned may not have a financial or personal interest when making a social assistance decision.

Other things to be considered in due process include:

- Right to be represented: A later ILO Convention (No. 128, (1967)) requires that a claimant should have the right to be represented or assisted by a qualified person of his/her own choice, for example, by a delegate from a trade union. Although this Convention refers only to specific benefits (invalidity, old-age and survivors) it is nevertheless usual to give the same rights of representation to all benefit cases.
- 3. Written response: decisions to be notified to claimants, whether favourable to the claimant or not. Most written communications which are issued to claimants whether standard, mass-produced, printed forms, or individually prepared notifications or letters contain information about appeal rights and the procedure for submitting an appeal. Such notifications are basic to the appeals system, for it is perhaps the only way in which claimants might learn of their right of appeal. It therefore follows that any form or notification, which is to be used in connection with decisions on benefit claims, should include information about appeal rights and procedures.
- 4. **Information awareness:** Additionally, most social security institutions provide additional publicity posters, leaflets, advertisements, etc. to make members of the scheme aware of their appeal rights. See Module ADM.
- 5. Rapid responses: As with all other aspects of benefit procedures, it is important that the appeals system works efficiently and quickly. Those who claim benefit do so because they believe themselves to be entitled and will usually also be experiencing some loss or reduction of income because of the contingency which has prompted the claim. In the event that benefit is refused or paid at a lower rate than was expected a member will not wish to wait several months for an appeal to be processed. Having said that, the work involved in processing an appeal, constituting the appeal body and arranging a hearing, will inevitably take several weeks, even under the most efficient system. It follows, therefore, that all action resulting from the submission of an appeal must be urgent action.

Administrative justice protection can be embedded in the constitution of a country (for example, section 33 of the South African Constitution), or in the national applicable law (i.e. the common-law system of a country), and even in a separate statute.

In **South Africa**, for example, this legal protection is contained in the Constitution, the common law, and in a specific law dealing with just administrative action (i.e. the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, 2000). These legal requirements have played a profound role in ensuring that social administrations respect the administrative justice entitlements of clients.

The courts have, among other stipulations, held that:⁵⁰

- a. unreasonable delays in the processing of social assistance grant applications may constitute unlawful administrative action;
- b. unilateral withdrawal or suspension of grants without proper adherence to the administrative law principles of natural justice and to the rights which had accrued in terms of statute is unlawful and invalid;
- c. reasons for administrative action taken, such as the suspension or withdrawal of a social assistance grant, must be given. The reasons must be adequate: the administrator who has taken the administrative action must sufficiently substantiate the action taken. The reasons given for the administrative action must be objectively sufficient and phrased in such a way as to be understandable to the applicant; and
- d. the affected person should also be informed of his or her right to appeal.

⁵⁰M Olivier "Social security: Core elements" in LAWSA (The Law of South Africa) - Labour Law and Social Security Law Vol 13, Part 3 (LexisNexis, Durban, 2013) par 178.



4.4 PRIVACY AND THE PROTECTION OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF PRIVATE INFORMATION

Social assistance laws often contain comprehensive data gathering and storage provisions, the application of which may cause potential infringements on an individual's right to privacy. Privacy provisions may relate to such events as:

- the disclosure of information by individuals and, at times, by third parties to social assistance administrations,
- the maintenance of social security databases, and
- access by social assistance administrations to data kept elsewhere by the State or other social security institutions.⁵¹

The purpose of these provisions usually is to ensure that information, including financial information supplied by an applicant for benefits, is correct. The powers given to social assistance administrations may therefore be far-reaching.

The **Namibian** Social Pensions Act, 1992, stipulates that '... notwithstanding anything contrary in any law, any other officer, shall at the request of the Permanent Secretary furnish him or her with such information relating to any applicant as may be determined by the Permanent Secretary' (section 13). Similarly, social protection laws may determine that other social protection institutions may request information held by social assistance administrations. In South Africa, for example, the commissioner of the Unemployment Insurance Fund is empowered to access any State database containing information regarding social security.⁵² It is therefore necessary to ensure that social assistance clients enjoy sufficient protection concerning the privacy of information about them to which a social assistance administration may have access. For more in depth analysis see also **MODULE MIS**.

According to ILO R. 202 of 2012 on National Floors of Social Protection, it is expected of countries to establish a legal framework to secure and protect private individual information contained in their social security data system (par 23). The protection could be embedded in the general legal system, such as the common-law protection of privacy existing in many countries. It could also be of a constitutional nature – section 14 of the **South African** Constitution of 1996, for example, grants the right to privacy to everyone.

But for protection to be effective and evident to both officials of the social assistance administration and social assistance clients, it is advisable to explicitly include the protection of an individual's private information in a social assistance law. Such a provision is, for example, contained in the South African Social Security Agency Act, 2004 (see sections 4(3)(c), 7(3)(g) and 16(1)).

Box 21: Protection of private information - South African Social Security Agency

'Subject to the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996), and the Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000 (Act No. 2 of 2000), no person may disclose any information submitted in connection with any application or instruction for or in respect of a grant, payment, benefit or assistance made available by the Agency, unless he or she is ordered to do so by a court of law or unless the person who made such application consents thereto in writing.'

Source: South African Social Security Agency Act 9 of 2004, section 16(1).

Nevertheless vigilance must be constant and ministries must be ready to investigate and regulate on suspicion of misuse of personal data records.

⁵¹ M Olivier "Social security: Framework" in LAWSA (The Law of South Africa) - Labour Law and Social Security Law Vol 13, Part 2 (LexisNexis, Durban, 2012) par 99. ⁵² Unemployment Insurance Act 63 of 2001, section 57(3).

PROTECTION OF INDIVIDUAL ENTITLEMENTS AND PROTECTION AGAINST MISUSE OF PERSONAL INFORMATION IN SOCIAL ASSISTANCE



As an example, the payment provider of social benefits in South Africa communicated personal data from social assistance records to allow sale of insurance products to beneficiaries (for example funeral insurance). This has brought the need for the Department of Social Development to regulate in order to protect beneficiaries from unlawful deductions of premiums on social benefits. Beneficiaries – old age, chronic disabled people or vulnerable child carers - were not fully aware of insurance policies they had subscribed or authorized, the payment of which was withheld from their social benefit payments directly by the cash pay master. Beyond taking legal action, DSD also promoted a campaign to raise awareness to such practice.

Similar protection to South Africa's personal data protection provision is contained in section 31 of the **Kenyan** Social Assistance Act, 2013. Much can also be learned from how other legal systems provide for the protection of private information. In the European Union, the Data Protection Directive⁵³ provides guidelines on the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such information.

Individuals who are subject to the processing of personal data have the right:

- to know that their information is in a specific database;
- to know what information is contained in it;
- to know the purpose for which such data is used;
- o the adequate protection of the information; and
- to correct information or to have personal information removed from the database and that the providers give notice of corrected information.



In the United States, section 552a(4) of the Privacy Act of 1974 stipulates that:

"Each agency that maintains a system of records shall maintain in its records only such information about an individualas is relevant and necessary to accomplish a purpose of the agency required to be accomplished by statute or by executive order of the President."

4.5 PRINCIPLES FOR PROTECTING CLIENTS' RIGHTS IN ACCESSING SOCIAL PROTECTION SERVICES

Clients' rights in accessing social protection services may include right to available customer care and service delivery (opening times, distance of services from catchment communities), respect of dignity (waiting lines in the sun, seated or standing, near ablution facilities), correct and understandable information (language, simplicity of language) in appropriate formats (written or radio), attention to special needs.

Certain instances relating to the protection of clients' rights and contained in a country's legal framework were already mentioned above – in particular the protection provided through administrative justice, the right to privacy, and access to justice provisions. Social assistance laws invariably make provision for other key components of client protection, and to promote, facilitate and streamline easy access to and use of the social assistance system. This is achieved through a variety of means.

⁵³ Directive 95/46/EC on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data)



First, a social assistance law may typically impose **obligations on officials** of the social assistance administration to enhance service delivery and ensure dedicated customer care. (See also MODULE M&E and its discussion of Service Standards). These obligations may include:

- A prohibition on conflicts of interest staff members should be required to disclose a conflict of interest.
- A prohibition on the acceptance of compensation or a gift by officials for example, section 19(1) of the **South African** Social Security Agency Act prohibits the unauthorized acceptance of a fee or reward by a member of staff, adviser, agent or other person employed by or acting on behalf of the Agency.
- Adherence to a code of conduct by officials and the taking of disciplinary steps against an official in the event of non-compliance.

Second, as many social assistance clients may not know their rights, or may be illiterate, innumerate or otherwise in need of support, **customer care obligations** should ideally be contained in the social assistance legal framework. Such obligations are specifically contained in South Africa's Social Assistance Act , as discussed in Box 22.

Box 22: Example Assisting social assistance clients in South Africa:

In terms of the South African Social Assistance Act, officials of the South African Social Security Agency (SASSA) are obliged to provide concrete assistance to a person, who due to his or her age, disability or inability to read or write is unable to understand or access his or her rights or obligations in terms of the Act. Assistance must be provided in a language he/she will understand. A legal obligation is also imposed on SASSA to publish and distribute pamphlets and brochures in all official languages regarding the rights, duties, obligations, and procedures discussed in the Act.

Source: Social Assistance Act 13 of 2004 (South Africa), section 2(2) and (4).

Third, the law should make clear what the **procedure is regarding applying for, accessing and retaining** social assistance benefits, and the circumstances under which a benefit could be withdrawn, cancelled or suspended. The law and supporting regulations should indicate clearly and in detail the procedures an applicant for a benefit has to follow when applying for the benefit, and the supporting documentation required by the social assistance administration. An applicant should have the right to be informed of the outcome of the application and his/her right to have the decision reconsidered. In order to avoid delays and continued hardship on the part of an applicant, the law should ideally stipulate the time period within which a decision on the application will have to be provided to the applicant.

There should also be clarity around the **amounts to be paid**, the **period** for which these will be paid (especially in the case of a temporary benefit), and the **payment method**. In particular, where payments are collected from pay-points, it is necessary to protect clients against abuse. In the case of **South Africa**, for example, social assistance regulations contain strict rules regarding the management of pay-points, including a prohibition on access by creditors and moneylenders and the need for certain institutions and individuals to obtain approval before they accompany the beneficiary and render support services. Moreover, the law and supporting regulations should clearly determine the timing and procedures applicable to a review, suspension, cancellation or termination of a social assistance benefit.

Fourth, it is part of a social assistance administration's responsibilities to ensure that benefits are **paid to legitimate beneficiaries** and are not open to abuse by those entrusted with social assistance administration and by beneficiaries.



Box 23: Ensuring that social assistance benefits are used appropriately used

Specific protective measures should be built into social assistance legislation. For example, in order to prevent the misspending of social benefits, social assistance laws invariably provide that beneficiaries who misspend their benefits may have the payment of their benefits terminated or a person appointed to receive and apply the benefit on their behalf. Also, benefits should not be the subject of a cession, pledge, attachment or any form of execution under a judgment or order of a court of law.

Source: Authors

Finally, however, it must be remembered that a social assistance system can only operate optimally if the **clients themselves**, i.e. social assistance applicants and beneficiaries, comply with the prescribed rules. These rules typically relate to:

- Complying with all the procedures and providing the required proof to enable a client to access a social assistance benefit;
- Informing the social assistance administration should the circumstances of the client change, as this may impact the client's eligibility to receive a benefit;
- Prohibiting the furnishing of information which is false or misleading or otherwise acting fraudulently, for example, by offering a bribe or other monetary incentive to an official of the administration; and
- Prohibiting abuse of the grant by a beneficiary and the appointment of a person to receive a benefit on behalf of the beneficiary and to use it for the benefit of that beneficiary, should abuse occur or should the beneficiary be unable to use the benefit appropriately.

4.6 TAKE-AWAY LESSONS

- Due process implies that decisions and actions taken by social assistance administrations and their officials must be lawful, reasonable and procedurally fair. Legal systems should therefore recognize the right of an affected person to administrative justice.
- It is necessary to ensure that social assistance clients enjoy sufficient protection concerning the privacy of information about them to which a social assistance administration may have access.
- A social assistance law may also impose obligations on officials of the social assistance administration to: enhance service delivery; ensure that benefits are paid to legitimate beneficiaries (and are not open to abuse); provide dedicated customer care; and make information about programmes and obligations accessible to the clients.
- Social assistance clients should be granted access to adequate complaints and appeal mechanisms.
- This process should follow the principles of due process.
- Privacy of information should be included in specific social assistance legislation.
- Protection of human rights in access to services involves availability of services, correct information on service process, administrative requirements, respect for human dignity in service interface, and assumes beneficiary compliance with rules.



PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY IN NATIONAL SOCIAL ASSISTANCE LAWS

5.1 OBJECTIVES

Upon completion of this part of the module, you should be able to:

- Describe various types of accountability institutions established by countries along with the provision of social security
- Reflect on and distinguish between the different compliance and enforcement mechanisms as regards social assistance policy and legal frameworks
- Understand the role of support available to social assistance clients by non-governmental actors

5.2 ACCOUNTABILITY INSTITUTIONS

This section identifies what are the main provisions/principles that the legal framework should establish to ensure accountability. Accountability systems for social protection are also discussed within the **#** MODULE M&E

Countries use a variety of mechanisms to ensure accountability by social protection administrations. These administrations are invariably government institutions answerable to a lead minister or the relevant ministry (such as the South African Social Security Agency, which reports directly to the Minister of Social Development), or are at times part of the ministry. However, there are also examples of separate governing institutions.

The Social Assistance Act of **Kenya** (2013) established a National Social Assistance Authority with its own management board (sections 3-5), answerable to the Authority.

Other accountability mechanisms include parliamentary (portfolio) committees, ministerial committees and constitutional institutions such as supreme audit institutions (SAI). In reality supreme audit institutions face serious limitations in many countries. "Audit reports are withheld from the public, hearings on audit findings take place behind closed doors and findings are not acted upon"⁵⁴.

⁵⁴ International Budget (2016) How can government audits drive accountability, Blog accessed online http://www.internationalbudget.org/2016/11/how-government-audits-drive-accountability/



In **South Africa**, the Human Rights Commission and the Public Protector, both set up in terms of the South African Constitution (1996), are examples of such institutions.

Recently, however, there has been a tendency to establish social assistance accountability mechanisms outside the framework of the above, traditional institutions. These mechanisms are often referred to as **social accountability structures.** Some of these mechanisms may be initiated by government itself to enhance citizen participation.

For example, in **South Africa**, the Department of Performance, Monitoring and Evaluation in the Presidency (DPME) has initiated a 'Framework for Strengthening Citizen-Government Partnerships for Monitoring Frontline Service Delivery', involving a Citizen-Based Monitoring (CBM) Pilot: 'This Government initiated accountability mechanism represents an effort to include citizens' experience of service delivery into their overall monitoring, evaluation and performance frameworks.'⁵⁵

Rwanda ranks routinely in the top of good governance indicators in Africa and one of the least corrupt countries. The Rwanda Governance Board performs impromptu routine audits and inspections in social security organizations. It scores service delivery performance and ranks government institutions against established indicators according to a well-established scorecard⁵⁶

Other such institutions are supported by non-governmental organizations, in particular advocacy organizations. However, there are also examples of informal, citizen-based institutions set up by communities. In the South African context, Pension Committees are but one example of such institutions.

Box 24: Establishing non-governmental and community structures for social accountability

'Evidence shows that social protection programmes, particularly safety nets, have established relatively robust accountability mechanisms. These include a suite of measures to ensure fiduciary control and "upwards" accountability to management and Parliamentarians. Many safety nets have also established strong systems to create "downwards" accountability to beneficiaries and communities. For most programmes, this is translated into the widespread use of community structures to monitor implementation progress and advocate for beneficiary rights, among others. While this strategy appears to be effective in many ways, it has raised questions about the sustainability of programmes that depend heavily on voluntary labour at local levels.'

Source: Ministry of State for Planning, National Development and Vision 2030 Kenya Social Protection Sector Review (2012) viii-ix.

5.3 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT

There are several mechanisms involved in **ensuring compliance and enforcement** of social assistance policy and legal frameworks. Legislation should provide for social assistance administrations to undertake **inspections** and to **act against** non-complying persons and institutions.

The use of internal review institutions has already been discussed. In addition, the role of external tribunals has also been already discussed. These specifically resolve disputes raised by social assistance clients who disagree with decisions made by the social assistance administration.

Given the potential for fraud and in view of the large number of clients served by the **South African** social assistance system, the Social Assistance Act, 2004, provides for a special external enforcement institution, called the 'Inspectorate for Social Assistance'.

⁵⁷ HelpAge International (2014), A Livingstone Accountability in social pension programmes: A baseline mapping of the Old Age Grant in South Africa p. 17. ⁵⁸ https://www.facebook.com/Rwanda-Governance-Board-152531114805656/



The Inspectorate is an independent institution and is required by law to:⁵⁷

- a. conduct investigations to ensure the maintenance of the integrity of the social assistance system;
- b. execute internal financial and compliance audits;
- investigate fraud, corruption and other forms of financial and service mismanagement and criminal activity; and С.
- d. establish a complaints mechanism.

Considerable powers of investigation are given to the Inspectorate, which is supported by a regime of significant criminal sanctions.

Judicial enforcement by the courts has also been discussed. It relates essentially to the task of courts to give effect to the protection embedded in the legal framework, i.e. the constitutional, statutory and common-law domains. Examples already mentioned include the administrative justice and privacy protection overseen by courts.

Sometimes the jurisprudence could have far-reaching implications for social assistance coverage and service delivery.

In South Africa, for example, it was held that, where necessary, a court will allow a class action to be brought before it in order to protect the interests of the poor and vulnerable, in particular.⁵⁸

5.4 SUPPORT FROM LEGAL CLINICS AND OTHER SOCIAL ACTIVISTS

Social assistance clients are, as a rule, some of the most vulnerable and marginalized members of society. While opportunities for utilizing formal and informal grievance, dispute resolution and accountability mechanisms exist, as explained above, it is clear that these categories of persons are also in need of support from other stakeholders. Indeed State legal aid is not available to social assistance clients in many countries. In fact, several of the (social) accountability structures referred to above have been established and/or supported by government and civil society agencies (including NGOs).

Social workers and legal aid clinics provide support to social assistance clients. Crucially, civil society organizations and legal aid clinics have been instrumental in successfully litigating for the protection of applicants and beneficiaries.

Box 25: South Africa's Legal Resource Centre

Legal rights clinics exist in several countries in Southern Africa. One example is the Legal Resources Centre (LRC). The LRC is South Africa's largest public interest, human rights law clinic. Established in 1979, it uses law as an instrument of justice for the vulnerable and marginalised, including poor, homeless and landless people.

Source: http://lrc.org.za/

⁵⁷ Social Assistance Act, chapter 4, section 27.
 ⁵⁸8See section 38 of the South African Constitution, 1996, as well as Permanent Secretary, Department of Welfare, Eastern Cape Provincial Government v Ngxuza 2001
 10 BCLR 1039 (A); 2001 4 SA 1184 (SCA) and Mashavha v President of the RSA 2004 12 BCLR 1243 (CC).



Box 26: Example: Civil society stakeholder support in South Africa

'Monitoring and Advocacy Organisations, such as Black Sash and SCAT, are an important civil-society initiated accountability mechanism for collective grievances. Black Sash initially started as an advice service providing casework and paralegal advice for individuals, but over time it evolved to build a network of Community Advice offices and Community Based Organisations (CBOs) in order to broaden their reach and impact. As well as supporting CBOs to provide advice, Black Sash also provides training for CBOs in local government legislation, plans and budgets, including how to monitor and hold local government to account and how to participate in community decision making structures.'

Source: A Livingstone(2014) Accountability in social pension programmes: A baseline mapping of the Old Age Grant in South Africa (HelpAge International, 2014) 16.

5.5 TAKE-AWAY LESSONS

- In order to keep social protection administrations accountable, a country can use government mechanisms, parliamentary (portfolio) committees, ministerial committees, and constitutional institutions.
- Compliance and enforcement mechanisms for the protection offered in the social assistance legal framework should be provided for in legislation. These can take the form of judicial enforcement (through the country's courts); or internal review institutions and specialized tribunals.
- 'Social accountability' mechanisms that are facilitated by social workers, civil society organizations and legal aid clinics, can also be made available to social assistance clients.
- The social assistance legal framework should provide for social assistance administrations to undertake inspections and to act against non-complying persons and institutions.



BIBLIOGRAPHY

African Union (2008) Social Policy Framework for Africa (CAMSD/EXP/4(I)

Bruni, M L (2016) Reforming Social assistance system, in Alam A. e al (2016) Making it happen, World Bank Group

Cassim, A (2015) What happens to policy when champions go away, Making Voices Count, available at http://www.makingallvoicescount.org/blog/south-africassocial- welfare-system-happens-policy-champions-goaway/

Freeland N (2014) Do targeting techniques tend to be incompatible with human rights accessed online http://socialprotectionhumanrights.org/expertcom/dotargeting-techniques-tend-to-be-incompatible-with-thehuman-rights-standards-of-transparencyand-access-to information/

Hailu, Medeiros and Nonaka (2008), "Legal Protection for Cash Transfers: Why We Need it," in Poverty in Focus: Cash Transfers, Lessons from Africa and Latin America, Brazil: international Poverty Centre for inclusive Growth

HelpAge International (2014), A Livingstone Accountability in social pension programmes: A baseline mapping of the Old Age Grant in South Africa

Human Rights and Social security (2017) Collection of legal cases http://socialprotection-humanrights.org/legaldepository/ legal-cases/⁵⁹

ICESR (1966) International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

ILO (1952) Convention 102 Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention.

ILO (2011) ILO social security and the rule of Law, General Survey concerning social security instruments in light of the 2008 Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization

ILO (2012) Recommendation 202 on National Floors of Social Protection

ILO (2014) World Social Protection Report 2014-2015

ILO (2014) Namibia Social protection floor assessment International Budget (2016) How can government audits drive accountability, Blog accessed online http://www.internationalbudget.org/2016/11/howgovernment- audits-drive-accountability/

ISSA(2010) Dynamic Social Security for the Americas: Social Cohesion and Institutional Diversity – Developments and Trends

Kulke U and Guilbault, ESP (2013) The Social Protection Floors Recommendation, 2012 (No. 202): Completing the Standards to Close the Coverage Gap (July-December 2013). International Social Security Review, Vol. 66, Issue 3-4

Olivier M (2003) "Developing an integrated and inclusive framework for social protection in SADC: a rights-based perspective" in M Olivier and E Kalula (eds) Developing an integrated and inclusive framework for social protection in SADC (CICLASS, Institute for Development and Labour Law, UCT & FES, 2003)

Olivier M (2011) "Social security adjudication in the light of international standards: The need for reform inbSouthern Africa" – vol 3(1) International Journal of Social Security and Workers Compensation

Olivier M (2011) "Social security adjudication in the light of international standards: The need for reform in Southern Africa" – vol 3(1) International Journal of Social Security and Workers Compensation

SADC (2007) Charter of Fundamental Social Rights in the SADC

Taylor (2002) Transforming the Present. Protecting the Future – Consolidated Report (Report of the Committee of Inquiry into a Comprehensive System of Social Security for South Africa.

UN (1948) Universal Declaration of Human Rights

⁵⁹ This collection of cases can provide guidance and inspirationto development practitioners and activists who wish to take the legal route to achieving the equal enjoyment of the right to social security or social protection



CURRICULUM OVERVIEW

The TRANSFORM Learning Package

is organized in a modular structure, and reflects the key building blocks of a holistic & interdependent social protection system.

The TRANSFORM modules that are currently available are listed below. Other modules are under development and will be added to the curriculum.

| ELEG | Legal Frameworks |
|--------------|---|
| # S&I | Selection & Identification |
| Ë ADM | Administration and Delivery Systems |
| E COO | Coordination |
| Ë GOV | Governance, Institutions & Organizational Structure |
| Ë MIS | Management Information Systems & Approaches to Data Integration |
| ä FIN | Financing & Financial Management |
| ≣ M&E | Monitoring & Evaluation |

All TRANSFORM materials are available at: http://socialprotection.org/institutions/transform

WHAT IS TRANSFORM?

TRANSFORM is an innovative learning package on the administration of national social protection floors in Africa. The prime objective of TRANSFORM is to build critical thinking and capacities of policy makers and practitioners at national and decentralized levels to improve the design, effectiveness and efficiency of social protection systems. TRANSFORM aims not only at imparting state-of-the-art knowledge that is appropriate for the challenges faced by countries in the region, but also to encourage learners to take leadership on the change and transformation of nationally defined social protection systems.

WHY TRANSFORM?

Many training curricula exist in the field of social protection and thus fundamental ideas, concepts, approaches and techniques are accessible. And yet, institutions and individuals struggle with the complexity of developing a broad, encompassing social protection system.

This complexity requires a transformational approach to teaching and knowledge sharing. It is far from enough to impart knowledge, to fill heads. It requires learners to grapple with the features of complexity, to stimulate creativity, to appreciate diversity and uniqueness, to be involved as a key element of ownership –elements which are at least as important as the factual knowledge itself. This learning package aims at just that: TRANSFORM!

All TRANSFORM materials including this manual are licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/ See more on cover page.

Contact theTRANSFORM initiative at: transform_socialprotection@ilo.org or visit http://socialprotection.org/institutions/transform

